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MANAGED GROWTH D005 ANMUAL REPDRT

Financial Highlights

o

Year Ended December 31, 2001 [ 2002 | 2003 | 2004 | 2005 |
Enég;ne Statement Data

Premiums earmed $167,769,854 $185,841,193 $106,792,606 $265,838,504  $294,498,023

!Eestment income 15,885,544 14,581,252 13,315,936 15,906,728 18,471,863

Total revenues 185,163,623 203,803,561 214,992,378 287,788,638 319,847,184

Net income 5818131 . 12,002,722 18,203,976 31,614,260 36,049,497

E:sz;t income per common share

" Basic camings per common share Ag- 99+ 143 1.80% 2.05
EJEEute(i garnings per commmon share A8 .08 1.3g* 1.74* 1.98

Ea?aﬁce Shest Dala

Total assets $456,632,372 $501,218,164 $602,036,042 $735,415,401 $781,421,568
Stockholders' equity 120,928,348 133,182,850 208,642,232 242,704,314 277,896,186
Book value per share 10.08% 10.89* 12.22* 13.53* 15.07

*Restated to reflect a 4-for-3 stock split effected in the form of a 33%% stock dividend on March 28, 2005
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TO OUR STOCKHOLDERS AND FRIENDS

We are very pleased to report that Donegal
Group achieved record earnings for the fourth
straight vear, Our exeellent underwriting prof-
itability and earnings performance in 2005
reflect our pursuit of profitable growth,
consetvative risk selection and managemeit
of our exposure to catastrophic events.

The insurance industry wili long
remember 2005 as the year of Katréné, by far
the most costly hurricane in United States
history. The year algo set a new benchmark as
having the most active hurricane and tropical
storm season, with the nrumber of named
storms breaking the previous record sat in
1933, We were fortunate that the effects of
these storrms were mostly confined to regions
outside of our primary operating areas. We
continue to carefully managa our catastrophe
axposiires and reinsurance program in an
effort to limit the Impact of catastrophic events
on our operating resuits.

Cur total revenues for 2005 were
$319,847,194, an 11.1 percent increase over
the $287,788,638 In revenues for 2004. Nst
income increased to a record $36,949,497, or
$1.98 per share on a diluted basis, in 2005,
compared to $31,614,269, or $1.74 per share
on a diluted basis, in 2004, Record undenwriting

C. Egwin Ireland
18G8-2005

profitability along with increased investment
income accounted for the majority of the
increase in our net income.

Our level of underwriting profitability, as
measured by our combined ratio, continued our
historical trend of significantly outperforming the
property and casualty insurance Industty as a
whole. The combined ratio is the key measure
of profitability from insurance underwriting and
is a principal indicator of the levels of underwrit-
ing discipline and processing efficiency in the
operations of an insurance company. Our
2005 GAAP combined ratio of 89.5 percent
improved from the 3.1 percent combined ratio
we posted in 2004, Our 2005 combined ratio
outperformed the projected insurance industry
average statutory combined ratio of 102 per-
cent for 2005 by a wide margin. Our loss ratio
decreased to 58.9 percent in 2005, compared
to 61.7 percent in 2004, reflecting decreases in
the relfative number of bodily injury and weather-
related claims. These decreases were the
primary factor in our improved combined ratio.

Our record earnings boosted our
stockholders’ equity to $277,806,186 at year-
end, representing an increase of 14.5 percent
over year-end 2004, Likewise, our book value
per share increased to $15.07 per share at
yeat-end, increasing 11.4 percent over our
book value per share ai December 31, 2004,



Ward Group, a Cincinnati-based man-
agement consuiting firm speciafizing in the
insurance industry, named us one of the top
fifty perforning insurance companies nationwide
during 2005, Recelving a Ward's Benchmark 50
Award is a nationally recognized achievement.
Our receipt of this award reflects five years of
superior financial performance by the Denegal
insurance Group. Ward Group annually
analyzes the financial performance of 4,000
insurance companies.

Recognizing that many factors have
contributed fo our successful year, we express
our appreciation to the many independent
agents who have foined us In our quest for
profitable growth. We also acknowledge the
critical importance of intellectual capital in our
business and are grateful for the dedication
and commitment of the emplovees working
together to buitd our organization. in April
2005, we welcomed Jeffrey Miller as Chief
Financial Officer of the Donegal Insurance
Group and Sheri Smith as Secretary of the
Donegal Insurance Group. Both of these indi-
viduals have served in other capacities within
our organization, and we wish them success
in their increased responsibilities.
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We are saddened to report the death
of C. Edwin Iretand on Novernber 22, 2005. Mr.
freland served as a Director and Chairman of
the Board of Donegal Group from our inception
in 1986 until his retirement in 2002. Mr. ireland
was a true fiend to his fellow Directors and ful-
fited his duties with exceptional dedication,
excelience and integrity.

As we look forward to 2006 and
beyond, we will continue to strive 1o manage
our organization in a way that wiil enable us to
produce successful results. The purchase of
renewal rights from The Shelby Insurance
Company as discussed further in the next
section of our Annuat Report will add to our
growih in 2006 and represents another method
we have avallable o us as we continue to
pursue additional strategic acquisitions
to bolster our growth,

We appreciate your support and trust,
and we recognize that the enhancement of the
value of our stockholders’ investment over the
long term is paramount to our
mutual success.

Donaid H. Mikolaus
President

Philip . Glaffeiter §
Chaseman of the Board




RESULTS THROUGH MANAGED GROWTH

At Donegal Group, we continue to
sirive for superior results, while at the same
time adhering to the conservative business
strategies that have served us well since our
inception. The Donegal Insurance Group,
which includes the Donegal Group instirance
companies and Donegal Mutual Ihsurance
Company, was privileged to be ranked in 2005
among the top fifty performing insurance
companies nationwide by Ward Group, a
management consulting firm specializing in
the insurance industry, The Ward’s Benchimark
50 Award is presented to companies that
axocel in & number of safety, consistency and
performance measursmants over & ﬁve-yeét
period. The analysis includes such metrics as
average surplus, premium and net income
levels and average returns on equity, assels
and fotal revenue. We are pleased o have
been selected to receive this award, and we
recognize the importance of safely, consistency
and performance in the accomplishment of our
goals to luild our organization and increase
shareholder value over the long term.

We have employed a multi-faceted

strategy in the achievement of our growth
objectives to date, and we remain commitied
to disciplined underwriting practices and the
conservative management of our growth in
order to maximize our profitability as we
increase our premium base. Those familiar
with our organization's history will recognize
that ot growth strategy has been consistent
across the years, and the following pages
provide an update to key compohents of
that proven strategy — our regional emphasls,
our utllization of technology and our pursuit of
acquisitions.

Regional Emphasis

We continue to foliow a regional
approach 1o the selling and servicing of our
business, and our marketing regions have
evolved over time as we have continued 1o
expand our presence in new markets by
increasing our base of agency representation,
achiaving brand awareness and proving
ourselves as a market competitor.

Cur Mid-Atlantic region includes the
states of Pennsylvania, Maryland, Delaware
and New York and continues 1o represent our
largest concentration of business. In conjunc-
tion with our affilate, Donegat Mutual Insurance
Company, we entered Into an agreement with
The Shelby insurahce Company during 2005,
wherein we agreed to purchase renewal
rights to business in Pennsylvania,

Alabama and Tennessee due to Shelby's



withdrawal from these states. We began to offer

renewals on pclicies effective January 1, 2008,
and are writing policies thal meet our hormal
underwriting requirements. The Pennsylvania
book of business represents the largest
within the three states formerly serviced by
Shelby, and we hope to achieve additional
rarket penetration through this opportunity.
We have segmenied a portion of
our Southeast region into a distinct operating
regicn, which we now refer to as our Virginia-
Carolinas region. We continue 10 pursue growth
within Virginia, where we have established a
core book of business. As we move into 2006
and beyond, we will be emphasizing the
growth of our premiurn writings in both North
and Scuth Carclina, working to create a market
presence and recruit agenis in communities
where we believe we can obtain profitable
growth in these states, We are servicing these
states from our Virginia branch office and see
significant growth potential in this region.

Marketing Regions

Mid-Atlantic Region

Pennsyivania Georgia

Maryland Tennessee

Delaware Alabama
Louisiana

New York

Southeast Begion
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Our Southeast region now primarily

includes Georgia, Tennessee and Alabama.
We continue to enhance our product offerings
and appoint new agents in this fast-growing
region, and we are targeting this area for
premium growth over the next several years.
The acquisition of renewal rights to Shelby's
Alabama and Tennessee books of business

is expected to provide further critical

mass in this region in 2006.

Our Midwest region includes Ohio,
lowa, Nebraska, South Dakota and Oklahoma.
We continue to develop our market presence In
Ohic, where we have been actively writihg busi-
ness for many years, and our 2004 acquisition
of Le Mars Insurance Company has given us
the opportunity to develop markets in other
Midwest states. This region represents an area
where we are interested in expanding by
acquisition as the right opportunities arise.

Midwest Region  Virginia-Carolinas Region
Ohio Virginia

lowa North Carolina

Nebraska South Caralina

South Dakota

Oklahoma



A COMMITMENT TO PROFITABLE GROWTH

T
IRSTRANCE COMMNITS

The popularity of o WritePro automated
parsonal lings underwriting system has led
to the development of WriteBiz, a web-based
consmercial Bnas undennriting system that
enables ow agents to quote and Issue
policies automatically.

Enhanced Technaology

We recognize the necessity of pos-
sessing and utilizing technology comparabie
to that of our largest competitors. “Ease of
doing business” has become an increasingly
important component of & carrier’s value to an
independent agency. We previously announced
the implementation of our fully automated
personal lines underwriting and policy issuance
system, which we refer io as our "WritePro”
system. Based upon feedbagck from our agents,
we have steadily enhanced WritePro as we
rolied the system out o agents in Pennsylvania,
Virginia, Georgia and Ohio during 2005. The
most recent enhancement o the system is a
web-based user interface that greatly improves
the ease of data entry and facilitates the quot-
ing and issuance of policies for our agents.

Due to the positive response 1o
our WritePro systern, we have developed a
commercial business counterpart, which we
have namead "WriteBiz.” WriteBiz is an auto-
mated underwriting systemn that provides our
agents with a similar web-based interface to
automatically quote and issue commercial
automobile, workers’ compensation, business-
owners and tradesman policies. WriteBiz



ONE STRATEGIC STEP AT A TIME

utilizes the same rating engine as our internal
underwriting system and incorporates our
eligibitity and underwriting guidelines. As a
result, applications generated by our agents
can be quickly transitioned to policies with-
out further reentry of information, and policy
information is then fully downloaded to ouwr
agent's policy management systems through
our existing download capabilities. We are
optimistic that this ease-of-processing
enhancement will encourage our agenis to
direct more commercial business to us as
this system is rolled out to our agency

force in earty 2006,

We have embarked on an extensive
automation project to improve the efficiency
of our claims service. Scheduled for implemen-
tation at the end of 2006, the ClaimsCenter
systermn wili employ web-based technology
and electronic imaging to make many tasks
gasier and provide much efficiency in everyday
claim handling. The system wili be implement-
ed for all lines of business at our hame office,
and we are planning to roll this technology
out 10 a number of our branch office claim
operations beginning in early 2007, We lock
forward 1o the increased service ability and
cost efficiencies that this automation
project will provide.

2005 ANNUAL REPORT

Pursuit of Acguisitions

We are committed to finding
acquisition opportunities that fit within a desir-
ed profiie and our regional growth strategy.
As we evaluate potential affifiations, we have
a number of acqguisition approaches available
10 Us, inciuding outright purchase {pby cash or
stock), purchase of a book of business, as well
as mutual-to-mutual relationships facilitated
through our affiliate, Donegal Mutual Insurance
Company. We have employed a number of
these methods in the past, with the acquisition
of Shelby renewal rights being the latest
example. We have developed experience in
evaluating potential acquisitions through exten-
sive due diligence and then, upon axecuting
a deal, integrating acquisitions into our
corporate family. While we continue to put
a great deal of emphasis on organic growih,
or growth cbtained one policy at a time,
our experience has shown that strategic
acguisitions provide significant opportunities
for profitable growth.



Selected Consolidated Financial Data

Year Ended December 31, 2005 | 2004* | 2003* | 2002* | 2001* |

Incorse Statement Data

ifgmlﬂms parned $294,498,023 $265,838,5684 $196,792,696 $185,841,193 $167,769,854
lﬁxﬁsﬁment incoma, net 18,471,963 15,806,728 13,315,936 14,581,262 15,885,544
Fjgglized investment gains {losses) 1,802,809 1,466,220 1,368,031 144,180 (880,254}
Tﬂgﬁa? revenues 319,847,194 287,788,638 214,992,328 203,803,561 185,163,623
tncome before income iaxes

Wand extraordinary gain 52,345,495 37,054,251 25,436,375 16,484,584 7,001,728
lﬂgome faxes 15,385,398 10,885,652 7,142,399 4,451,862 1,273,598
E_ﬁraordinary gain — 5,445 670 — - —
{\lgt income 36,949,497 31,814,268 18,293,976 12,002,722 5.818,131
%isic garnings per common share 2.05 1.80 1.43 .89 49
Diluted earnings per common share 1.98 1.74 1.35 98 A8

Cash dividends per share
of Class A common stock AD .36 32 39 .30

Cash dividends per share
of Class B commeon stock .34 32 .29 27 27

Baial}ce Sheet Data at Year End

'[93&] invesiments $847,746,114 $499,069,332  $421,276,467 $332,299,004 $300,633,355
'Ep_’[al assets 781,421,588 735,415,401 602,036,042 501,218,164 456,632,372
: l}ibi obligations 30,929,000 30,929,000 25,774,000 19,800,000 27,600,000
§fgckhﬂlders’ equity 277,886,188 242,704,314 208,649,232 133,182,850 120,928,349
!;fgckholders‘ eauity per share 15.07 13.53 12.22 10.88 10.08

*Per share information has been restated fo reflect a 4-for-3 stock spfit effected in the form of a 33%4% stock dividend on March 28, 2005.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis
of Results of Operations and Financial Condition

General

We were organized as a regional instrance helding company by Donegal
Mutual Insurance Gompany {the “Metuat Company”) on August 26, 1886,
We operate predominantly as an underwriter of personal ard commercial
tines of property and casualty insurance through our subsidiaries. Our
personal lines products consist primarily of homeowners and ptivate
passenger automaobile policies. Dur commercial tines products constst
primarily of commercial automobile, commercial reulti-perdl and workers’
compensation policies. Our insurance subsidiaries, Atiantic States insurance
Company {"Aflantic States™), Southern Insurance Company of Virginia
("Southern™), Le Mars Insurance Company (“Le Mars™} and the Peninsula
Insurance Group ("Peninstula™), which consists of Peninsula indemnity
Company and The Peninsula Irsurance Company, weite personal and
commercial lines of property and casualty coverages exclusively through a
network of independent insurance agents in the Mid-Atlantic, Midwest and
Southern states. We acquired Le Mars and Peninsuta on January 1, 2004,
arud their resalts of operations have been included in our consolidatad
results of operations from that date. We alse own 48.1% of the outstanding
stock of Donegal Financial Services Corporation (“DFSG™), a thrift kolding
comparny. The Mutual Company owns the remalning 51.9% of the
oytstanding stock of DFSC.

At Decembaer 31, 2005, the Mutual Company held approximately 42% of our
outstanding Class A common stock and approximately 67% of our
outstanding Class B commaon stock. We refer to the Mutuat Company and
pur insurance subsidiaries as the Donegal Insurance Group.

On February 17, 2005, our board of directors declared a four-for-three stock
split of our Class A common siock and our Class B common stock in the
form of a 3314% stock dividend with a record date of March 1, 2005 and a
distribution date of March 28, 2005. The capital sioek accounts, ail share
amounts and earnings per share amounts for 2004 and prior years have
baen restated to reflect this stock split.

0On Sepiember 21, 2005, certain members of the Donegal Insurance Group
entered into an Acquisition Rights Agreement with The Shelby Insurance
Company and Sheloy Casualty Insurance Company {egether, “Shelby"), part
of Vesta insurance Group, Inc, The agreement grants those members the
right, at thelr discretion and subject to their traditional underwriting and
agency appointment standards, to offer renewal or replacement policies e
the holders of Shelby's personal lines policies in Pennsylvania, Ternessee
and Alabama, in connection with Shelby's plans of withdrawal from those
three states. As part of the agresment, the Donegal Insurance Group wili pay
specified amounts to Shelby based on the direct premiums written by the
Donegal Insurance Group on the renewal and replacement policles it issties.
Renewal and replacement poficies wili be offered for policies issued on or
after January 1, 2006. Thus, the agreement had no impact on our 2005
operating resulis.

Pooling Arrangement and Other Transactions with Affilfates

In the mid-1980s, the Mutual Company, like a number of other mutuszl
property and casualty insurance companies, recognized the need to develop
additional sources of capitaf and surplas o remain competitive, have the
capacity to expand its business and assure ifs long-lerm viability. The
Mutual Company, again like a number of other mutual property and casuaity
insurance companies, determined to implement a downstream holding
company structure as a sirategic response. Thus, in 1986, the Mutual
Company formed us as a downsiream holding company, then wholly owned
by the Mutual Company, and we formed Aflantic States as our wholly owned

10

supsidiary. As part of the impiementation of this strategy, the Mutual
Company and Atlantic States entered Into 2 pooling agreement In 1986,
whereby each company contributed all of its direct writien business fo the
poot and the poel then allocated a portion of the pooled business fo sach
eompany. The portion of the pooied business aliocated {o each company
was commansurate with its capital and surplus and its capacity to obtain
additionai capital and surplkis. The consideration to the Mulual Company for
entering into the pooting agreement was Its ownership of our capital stoek
and the expectation that the Mutual Company's surplus would increase over
fime as the value of its ownership inferest in us increased.

Since 1986, we have effected {hree public offerings, a major purpose of which
was to provide capital for Alaniic States and our other insurance subsidiasies
and o fund acquisitions. As Atlantic States received additional capital, its
underwriting capacity sigrificantly increased. Thus, as originally plansed in the
mid-1980s, Atlantic States had the capital necessary to suppori the growth of
its direct business and increases in the amount and percentage of business it
assumes from the pool. As a result, the participation of Aflantic States in the
inter-company poof has increased periodically from its initial 30% participation
in 1986 to its curvent 70% participation, and the size of the poo! has steadily
increased. The corresponding benefit to the Mutua! Company has been the
substantial increase in the Mutual Company’s surplus and the significant
growth of lts overal! business.

Our insurance operations are interrelated with the insurance operations of
the Mutual Company, and, while maintaining the separate corporate
exisience of each company, the Mutuat Company and we conduct our
insurance business together with our other insurance subsidiaries as the
bonegal Insurance Group. As such, the Mulual Company and we share the
same business philosophy, management, amployees and faciiities and offer
the same types of insurance products. We do not anticipate any changes in
the pooling agreement with the Mutual Company, including changes in
Atlantic States’ pool participation level, in the foreseeable fulure.

The risk profiles of the business written by Atlantic States and the Mutua
Company historically have been, and continue to be, substantially siriiar.
The products, classes of business undenwritten, pricing practices and
underwriting standards of both companies are defermined and administerad
by the same management and underwriting personnel. Further, as the
Donegat Insurance Group, the companies share a combined business plan to
achieve market penetration and underwriting profitabiiity objectives. The
preducts marketed by Atlantic States and the Mutual Company are generatly
complementary, thereby allowing Donegal Insurance Group to offer a
broader range of products to a given market and fo expand Donegat
Instrance Group's abfiity 1o service an entire personal lines or commercial
lines account. Distinctions within the products of the respective companies
generally relate to specific risk profiles targeted within similar classes of
business, such as preferred tisr versus standard tier products, but not alf of
the standard risk gradients are allocated to one company. Therefors, the
underwriting profitability of the bustness directly written by the individual
companies will vary. However, as the risk tharacteristics of all business
written directly by both companies are homogenized within the poof and
each company shares the results according fo its participation fevel, we
realize 70% of the underwriting profitabifity of the poci (because of our 70%
participation in the pool), while the Mutual Company realizes 30% of the
underwtiting profitability of the pool (becatzse of the Mutual Company's 30%
participation in the pool). Pooled business represents the predominant
perceniage of the net underwriting activity of both participating companies.
See Note 3 - Transactions with Affiflates for more information regarding the
pooting agreement.



in addition o the pooling agreement and third-parly reinsurance, our
insurance subsiciaries have varlous reinsurance arranpements with the
Mutual Company. These agreements include:

» patastrophe reinsurance agreements with Attantic, Le Mars and
Southern,

» an excess of loss reinsurance agreement with Southern,
« aworkers’ compensation reallocation agreement with Southern,

« 2 guota-share refnsurance agraement with Peninsula (effective
August 1, 2005} and

» 7 guola-share reingurance agreement with Southern (effective
October 1, 2005)

The excess of foss and catasirophe reinsurance agreements are intended o
tessen the effects of a single large loss, or an accumulation of josses arising
from one event, Io levels that are appropriate given each subsidiany's size,
undenwriting profile and surplus pesition.

The Mutual Company and Southern have an agreement in place to reallccate
the loss resulis of workers’ compensation business written by Southern as
part of commercial accounts primarily written by the Mutual Company or
Atiantic States, This agreement provides for the workers' compensation loss
ratio of Southern 1o be no worse than the average workers’ compensation
loss ratio for Atlantic States, Southern and the Mutuai Company combined.

The guota-ghare reinsurance agresment with Peninsula is intended to
transfer io the Mutual Company 100% of the premiums and losses related to
{he Pernsylvania workers' compensation product line of Peninsula Indemnity
Company, which provides the avaifability of an additional werkers'
compensation tier to the Mutual Company's commercial accoints in
Pennsyivania,

The quota-share reinsurance agresment with Southern is intended to
wransfer to Southern 100% of the premiums and tosses related to certain
personal lines produsts offered in Virginia by the Mutual Company through
the use of its automated policy guoting and issuance system.

The Mutual Company also has 100% retrocessional agreements with
Sotsthern anc Le Mars, The retrocessionat agreements are intended fo
ensure that Southern and Le Mars receive the same A.M. Best rating,
currently A (Excellent), as the Mutual Company. The retrocessional
agreements do not otherwise provide for pooling or reinsurange with or by
the Mutual Company and do not transfer instrance risk.

The Mustual Gompany provides facilities, personnel and other services {o us,
ard the related expenses are allocated between Atlantic States and the
Mutual Company in relation to their relative participation in the pooling
agreement. Le Mars and Southern reimburse the Mutual Company for their
persorinel costs, and Southern bears its proportionate share of information
services costs based on its percentage of total written premiums of the
Donegal Insurance Group.

All sgreements and all ehanges to existing agreements between our
subsidiaries and the Mutual Company are subject to approval by a
coerdinating committee that Is comprised of two of our board members who
do not serve on the Mutual Company beard and two board members of the
Mutual Company who do not serve on our board. In order 1o approve an
agreement of a change in an agreement, our members on the coordinating
committee must conclude that the agreement or change Is fair to us and our
stockholders, and the Mutual Company’s members on the coordinating
commities must conclude that the agreement or change is fair to the Mutual
Company and its policyholders.

There were no significant changes 1o the pooling agreement or other
reinsurance agreements with the Mutual Company during 2005 and 2004
except as noted above.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Qur financial statements are combined with those of our insurance
subsidiaries and are presented on a consolidated basis in accordance with
United Siates gererally sceepted accounting principles,

We make estimates and assumptions that can have a significant effect on
amolnts and disclosures we report in our financial statements. The most
slgnificant estimates relate to our reserves for property and casualty
insurance Unpatd losses and loss expenses, valuation of investments and
policy acquisition costs. While we befleve our estimates are appropriate, the
ultimate amounts may differ from the estimates provided. The methods for
making these estimates are regularly reviewed, and any adjustment
considered necessary is reflected in our current resuits of operations.

Liability for Losses and Loss Expenses

Liabilities for lossas and loss expenses are estimales at a given point in time
of the amounts an insurer expects to pay with respect to policyholder ¢laims
hased on facts and circumstances then known. An insurer recognizes at the
Yme of establishing its estimates that its ultimate liability for fosses and foss
expenses will exceed or be less than such estimates. Our estimates of
Habllities for losses and loss expenses are based on assumptions as to
future loss trends and expected claims severity, judicial theories of iability
and other factors. However, during the loss adjustment period, we may learh
additional facts regarding individual ciaims, and consequently it often
becomes necessary to refine and adjust our estimates of our liability, We
reflact any adjustmerts o our liabilities for fosses and loss expenses in our
operating results in the period in which the changes in estimates are made.

We maintain lizbilities for the payment of losses and loss expenses with
respect to both reported and unreported claims. Liabilities for loss expenses
are intended to cover the ultimate costs of settiing all tosses, including
investigation and litigation costs from stich losses. We base the amount of
liability for reported losses primatlly upon a case-by-case evaluation of the
type of risk isvolved, knowledge of the circumstances suryounding each
ciaim and the insurance policy provisions relating to the type of loss. We
determine the amount of our Kability for unyeported claims and foss
expenses on the basts of bistorical Isformation by line of insurance. We
account for inflation in the reserving function through analysis of costs and
trends, and reviews of historical reserving results. We closely menitor our
liabilities and recompute them periodically using new information on
reported clalms and a variety of statistical technlques. Our fiabifities for
losses are not discounted,

Heserve estimates can changa over fime because of unexpected changes in
assumptions related to eur external environment and, te a lesser extent,
assumptions as to our internal operations, Assumptions related to our
external environment include the absenee of significant changes in tort law
and the legal environment that increase liability exposure, consistency in
judicial interpretations of instrance coverage ant policy provisfons, stability
in economic conditions and the rate of loss cost inflation. For example, we
have experienced a decrease in claims frequency on bedily injury liability
ciaims during the past several years white claims severity has gradually
increased, These trend changes give rise to greater uncertainty as to the
pattern of future foss setffements on bodity injury claims. Related
uncertainties regarding futtre trends include the cost of medical
technologies and procedures and changes in the utilization of medical
procedures. Internal assumptions include accurate measarement of the
impact of rate changes and changes in poficy provisions and consistency in
the quality and characteristics of business written within a given line of
husiness, among other ltems. To the extent we determine that underlying
{actors impacting our assumptions have changed, we aftempt fo make
appropriate adjustments for such changes in our reserves. Accordingly, our
tltimate Hability for unpaid losses and loss expenses will likely differ from

1t



the amouni recorded at December 31, 2005, For every 1% change In our
estimate for loss and loss expense resarves, net of reinsurance
recoverahle, the effect on our pre-tax results of operations would be
approximately $1.7 milon,

The establishment of appropriate liabilities is an inherently uncertain
process, and there can be no assurance that our uttimate Hability wili not
exceed our loss and foss expense reserves and have an adverse effect on
our results of eperations and financtal condition, Furthermore, the timing,
frequency and extent of adjustments to our estimated future liabilities cannot
be predictad, since the historicat conditions and events that serve as a basis
for our estimates of ultimate claim costs may change. As is the case for
substantially afl property and casualty insurance companies, we have found
it necessary in the past to increase our estimated future liabilities for losses
and loss expenses in cerfain periods, and in other periods our estimales
have exceeded our actual llabliities. Changes in our estimate of the liabiity
{or losses and loss expenses generally reflect actual payments and the
evaluation of information recelved since the prior reporting date. We
recognized 2 decrease in cur liabliity for losses and loss expenses of prior
years of $9.4 miltion, $7.2 miltion and $450,110 In 2005, 2004 and 2003,
respectively. Generally, we experienced improving loss development frends
in 2005 and 2004, which were reflected in favorable settlements of open
claims. We made no significant changes in our reserving philosophy, key
reserving assumptions or ¢laims management, and thers have been no
significant offsetting changes in estimates that increased or decreased the
Inss and loss expense reserves in these periods. The 2005 development was
primarily racognized in the private passenger autormobile liability, workers'
compensation and comrnercial multi-peri! lines of business and was
consistently favorable for settiements of claims occutring in each of the
previous five accident years. The majority of the 2005 development was
refated to decreases in the liabifity for losses and loss expenses of prior
years for Atlantic States. Inchded in the 2004 development are decreases in
the Tiability for losses and loss expenses of prior years for Le Mars and
Peninsida of $3.6 miltion and $1.4 miilion, respectively, largely due to
favorable seitiement of open claims in the private passenger automobile
liability line of business.

Excluding the impact of isolaied catastrophic weather events, we have noted
stight downward trends in the number of claims incurred and the number of
claims outstanding at period ends relative to our premium base in recent
years acrpss most of our lines of business. However, the amount of the
average claim outstanding has increased gradually over the past several
years as the properly and casualty insurance industry has experienced
increased [itigation trends, periods in which economic conditions extended
the estimated length of disabilities, increased medicai loss cost frends and a
general sfowing of seftlement rates in litigated claims. Further adjustments
to cur estimates could be required in the future, However, on the basis of
our internal procedures, which analyze, ameng other things, our prior
assumptions, our experience with simiar cases and historical frends such as
reserving patterns, loss payments, pending levels of unpaid claims and
product mix, as well as court decisions, economic conditions and public
attitudes, we believe that we have made adeguate provisior for our liability
{or losses and foss expenses.

Because of our participation in the pool with the Mutuat Company, we are
exposed to adverse loss development on the business of the Mufual
Gampany that is included in the pool, However, nooled business represents
the predominant percentage of tha net underwriting activity of both
eompanies, and the Mutual Company and we wouid proporticnately share
any adverse risk development of the pooled business. The business in the
pool is homogenous (.e., we have a 70% share of the entire pool and the
Mutual Company has a 30% share of the entire pool), Since substantially all
of the business of Attantic States and the Mutual Company is pooled and the
resulis shared by each company according to its participation level under
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the terms of the pooling agreement, the underwriting pool is intended {0
protiuce a more uniform and stable underwriting result from year to year for
each company than they would experience individually and to spread the
risk of loss among each company.

Qur Bability for losses and foss expenses by major line of business as of
December 31, 2003 and 2004 consisied of the foliowing:

(in thousands} 2005 2004
Commercial fines;
Automohile $ 23532 § 22,656
Workers’ compensation 40,962 37,985
Commerctal mutti-peril 29,448 27,867
(Hher 3,088 3,315
Total commercial Hines 97,030 91,833
Personal lines:
Automobile 63,254 67,276
Homeowners . 10,800 10,449
Other . 1,825 1,873
Total personal lines 75,379 79,598

Total commergial and personal lines 173,008 171,431
Plus reinsurance recoverable 92,721 95,759

Totat liability for josses and loss expenses $265,730  $267,180

We have evaluated the effect on our loss and loss expense reserves and
sioekholders’ equity in the event of reasonably likely changes in the
variables considered In establishing loss and loss expense reserves. The
rangz of reasonably fikely changes was established based on a review of
changes in accident year development by line of business and applied to
loss reserves as a whole, The selected range does not necessarily indieate
what coutd be the potential best or worst case or likely scenario. The
foflowing table sets forth the effect on our loss and loss expense reserves
and stockholders’ equity in the event of reasonably Hikely changes in the
variables considered in establishing loss and loss expanse reserves:

Adjustad Loss and
Loss Expanse

Adjusted Loss and

Percentage Loss Expense Percentage

Chengeinloss  Reserves Netof Change Reserves Net of Change
and Loss Expense  Reinswance asof i Equityasof  Reinsurance as of i Equity as of
Reserves Net of December 31,  December 31,  December 3%,  December 31,

Reinsurance 2005 20051 2004 20040

{10.0)% $155,708 4.0% $154,288 4.6%
{7.5) 160,033 3.0 158,574 3.4
5.0) 164,359 2.0 162,859 2.3
(2.5 168,684 1.0 167,145 11

Base 173,008 - 171,431 -~

25 177,334 -1.0 175,717 -1.1
5.0 181,659 2.0 180,603 -2.3
1.5 185,885 -3.0 184,288 -3.4
10.0 190,310 -4.0 188,574 -4.6

0 Net of income tax effect.

Our reserve for unpaid losses and loss expenses is based on current frends
in toss and loss expense development and reflects our best estimate for
futire amounts needed fo pay fosses and loss expenses with respect to
incurred events eurrently known to us plus incurred but not reporied
{*IBNR™ claims. Reserve estimates are based on management's
assessment of known facts and circumstances, review of historica! lpss
settlement patterns, estimates of trends in claims severity, frequency, legal
and regulatory changes and other assumptions. Actuarial foss reserving
technigues and assumptions, whick rely on historical information as



adiusted fo refiect cusrent conditions, have been consistently apphied,
including consideration of recant case reserve activity. For the year ended
December 31, 2005, we used the most-likely number as detetmined by our
actuaries. Based upon information provided by our actuaries during the
development of our net reserves for losses and loss expenses for the year
ended December 31, 2005, we developed a range from a low of $156.8
million to a high of $189.2 million and with a most-iikely number of $173.0
million. The range of estimates for commercial lines in 2005 was $87.9
milion to $106.1 million (we selected the actuaries’ most-fikely number of
$97.0 million) and for personal lines in 2005 was $68.9 million to $83.1
mitfion (we selected the actuaries’ most-likely number of $76.0 millien),
Based upon information provided by our actuaries during the development of
our net reserves for Josses and f0ss expenses for the year ended December
31, 2004, we developed a range from a low of $125.1 million to a high of
$215.6 million and with a most-likely number of $171.4 miliien. The range
of estimates for commercial lines in 2004 was $68.1 million to $115.2
milion (we selected the actuaries’ most-fikely number of $91.8 mitiior} and
for personal lines in 2004 was $57.0 mitlion to $100.4 million {we selscted
the actuaries’ most-likely number of $79.6 milfion). :

We seek to enhance our underwriting results by carefully selecting the
product ines we underwrite. For our personal lines products, we insure
standard and preferred risks in private passenger automobile and
hemeowners fines. For our commerefal lines products, the commercial risks
that we priearily insure are mercantile risks, business offices, wholesalers,
service providers, contractors and artisan risks, imiting industrial and
manufagturing exposures. We have fimited exposure to asbestos and other
environmental fiabilities. We write no medical malpractice o professional
Habflity risks. Through the consistent apphcation of this disciplined
underwriting philosophy, we have avoided many of the "long-tall” issuas
faced by other insurance companies. We consider workers’ compensation to
be a *long-tall” Ine of business, in that workers' compensation claims tend
1o be seftled over a lenger imeframe than those in our other lines of
business. The following table presents 2005 and 2004 claim count and
payment amount information for workers' compensation. Workers'
compensation losses primarily congist of indemnity and medical cests for
irlered workers. Substantially alf of the claims are refatively small individual
claims of a similar type.

For Year Ended
December 31,
2005 2004
{dollars in thousands)
Number of claims pending, beginning of period 1,676 1,808
Number of claims reported 3,865 1,926
Number of claims settied or dismissed 3,817 2,058
Number of claims pending, end of pericd 1,724 1,676
Losses pald $15,297 $14,341
Loss expenses paid 3,203 2,755
Investments

We make estimates concerming the valuation of our invesiments and the
recognition of other than temporary declines in the value of our investments.
When we consider the decline in value of an individual Investmaent to be
other thar temporary, we write down the investment to its estimated net
realizable value, and the amount of the write-down is reflected as a realized
less in our statement of income. We individually monitor alt investments for
other than temporary declines in value. Generally, if an individual equity
security has depreciated in value by more than 20% of original cost, and has
beer in an unrealized loss position for more than six months, we assume
there has been an other than temporary decline in value, With respect to

debt securities, we assume there has been an other than temporary decline
In value if it is probable that contraciual payments will not be received. In
addition, we may weite down sacurities in an unreakized Joss posttion based
on & number of other factors, including: the fair value of the investment
being significantly below its cost, the deteriorating financial condition of the
issuer of & security and the occurrence of industry, company and geographic
avents that have negatively impacted the value of a securily or rating agency
downgrades.

Our Investments In avatlable-for-sate fixed maturity and equity securities are
presented at estimated falr value, which generally represents quoted market
nrices.

During 2005, we soid honds that had been classified as hetd fo maturity due
to significant deterioration in the lssuer's creditworthiness. These bonds had
an amortized eost of $1.0 million, and the sale resulted n a realized foss of
$144,047, During 2003, we sofd certain bonds that had been classified as
held to maturity due to a series of rafing agency downgrades related to
these securities. These honds had an amortized cost of $1.8 miltion, and the
sate resuited in a realized gain of $165,564. There were no other sales or
transfers from the held to maturity pertfoiic in 2005, 2004 or 2003.

Policy Acquisition Gosts

Poticy acquisition costs, consisting primarily of commissions, premium taxes
and certain other underwriting costs that vary with and are directy relaied fo
the production of business, are deferred and amortized over the period in
which the premiums are earned. The method followed in computing deferred
peicy acquisition costs fimits the amournt of such deferred costs to thelr
estimated realizable value, which gives effect to the premium fo be eamed,
related investment income, losses and less expenses and gertain other costs
expected to be incurred as the premium is earned.

Maragement Evaluation of Operating Resulis

Qur premium growth rate and underwriting resuits have been, and continue
to be, Influenced by strong market conditions in the regions in which we
conduct business. Increased indusiry pricing in recent years for commercial
and personal insurance has aflowed us and many other insurers to cbtain
higher premiums for our products while maintaining our competitive postion
in the insurance marketplace.

We believe that principal factors In our earnings growth in the past several
yaars have been the strong market conditions in the areas in which we
operate, overall premium growth, eammings from acguisitions and our
disciplined underwtiting practices.

The properly and casualty insurance industry is highly cyclical, and
individual lines of business experience their own cycles within the overali
insurance industry cycle. Premium rale lavels are related to the avaitability
of insurance coverage, which varies according to the level of surplus in the
insurance induastry and othet items. The lavel of surplus in the industry
varies with retumns on capital and regulatory barrlers to the withdrawal of
strplus. Increases in surplus have generally been accompanied by increased
price competition among property and casually insurers. if we were to find it
necessary to reduce premiums or imi premium increases due to
compelitive pressures on pricing, we could experience a reduction in our
profit marging and reverues, an increase in our ratios of losses and
expenses to premiums and, therefore, lower profitahility. The cyclicality of
the insurance market and its potential impact en ocur resuits is difficult tn
predict with any significant refiability.
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We evaluate the performance of our commercial Fnes and personal fines
segments primarily based upan underwriting results as determined urder
statutory accounting practices (SAP), which our management uses o
measure performance for our total business. We use the following financtal
data to monitor and evaluate our operating resufs:

Year Ended December 31,
{in tholisands) 2005 2004 2603
Net premiums written:
Personal lines:
Autornobile $122,059 $118,734 § 85644
Homeowners 52,149 47,540 36,988
Other 10,620 9,882 6,753
Total personal lines 184,828 176,156 130,386
Commercial lines:
Automohile 34,641 32,679 18,655
Workers' compensation 33,154 28,228 25627
Commerciat muiti-peril 46,406 42,253 20,188
Gther 3,515 2,966 2,114
Tolal commercial lines 117,716 107,126 76,595
Total net premiums waitten $302,544 $283,282 $206,981
Components of GAAP combined ratie:
Loss ratie 56.9% 81.7% 64.2%
Expense ratio 321 30.8 6.2
Dividend rafio 0.5 0.5 8.6
GAAP combined ratio 89.5% 93.1% 85.0%
Revenues:
Premiums eamed:
Peesonal lines $181,787 $169,322 $125,322
Sommercial fines 2,71 98,657 71,471
Total SAP premiums earned 204,488 268,978 198,783
GAAP adjustments e {3,140} —
Total GAAP premiums earmned 204,498 265,839 166,793
Net investment income 18,472 15,807 13,316
Heudized investment gains 1,803 1,466 1,368
Other 5,074 4,577 3,515
Total revenues $310,847 $287,789 $214,902
Components of aet incoms:
Underwiiting income: :
Personal fines $ 14,232 $ 10,190 $ 2,004
Commercial lines 13,941 6,208 7173
SAP underwriting income 28173 16,308 9177
GAAP agjustments 2,785 2,109 692
GAAP underwriting income 30,938 18418 9,869
Net investment income 18,472 15,807 13,316
Realized investment gains 1,803 1,466 1,368
Other 1,132 1,263 883
Income before income 1ax expense
and extraordinary item 52,345 37,054 25436
Income tax expense (15,396} (10,886) (7,142}
Ingome before exiraordinary item 36,848 26,168 18,204
Extraordinary gain — 5,446 e
Net income $ 36,949 $ 31614 $ 18,204
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Resuits of Operations
Years Ended December 31, 2005 and 2004

Net Premiums Writien

Qur 2005 net pramiums written increased Dy 6.8% 1o $302.5 milfion,
compared to $283.3 million for 2004. Commercial lines net premiums
written increased $10.6 miltion, or 9.9%, for 2005 compared to 2004..
Personal lines net premiums writier increased $8.7 million, or 4.9%, for
2005 compared to 2004, We have benefited during these periods from
premium increases by our insurance subsidiaries that resuited from pricing
actions approved by regulators. These increases related primarily to privaie
passenger automobile, commercial muiti-peril, workers’ compensation and
hotneowners lines of business realized In most of the stales in which we
operate. In addition {o acquisition growth and pricing increases, we have
also benefited from organic growth in most of the states in which we
nperate.

Net Premiums Earned

Our net premiums earned increased fo $294.5 million for 2005, an increase
of $28,7 mitlion, or 10.8%, over 2004. Our net earned premiums duting
2005 have grown dug o the increase in written premiums during the year.
Premiums are earmed, or recognized as income, over the terms of our
policies, which ars generally one vear or less In duration. Thersfors,
increases or decreases in net premiums earned will generally reflect
Increases of decreases in net premiums written in the preceding twelve-
month period compared to the same period one year earlier,

Investment Income

For 2008, our net investment income increased 16.4% to $18.5 mililon,
cornpared to $15.9 mitlion for 2004, An increase in our average invested
assets from $460.2 million in 2004 o $523.4 million in 2005 primarily
accounted for the increase in investment income in 2005 comparad to 2004
Our annualized average refurn was 3.5% during both years. Although we
realized increases in our annualized average return as a result of a ghift
from short-term investments to higher yielding fixed maturities in our
investment portfolio as well as higher short-term interest rates during 2005
compared to 2004, these increases were offset by decreases in our
annuialized average retumn on increased haldings of tax-exempt fixed
maturities in our investment portfolio during 2005. The increased holdings of
tax-exempt fixed maturities i 2005 resulted from a shift from taxable fo
tax-exempt fixed maturities in order o oblain more faverable after-tax
yields,

Instaliment Payment Fees

Our Instaliment fees increased primarily as a result of increases in fee rales
and policy counts during 2005,

Net Realized Investment Gains/Losses

Qur net realized investment gains in 2005 were $1.8 million, compared to
%1.5 million in 2004. Our net reaiized investment gains in 2005 were net of
impairment charges of $408,432, compared to Impairment charges of
$6,650 recognized in 2004. Our impairment charges for both years were the
result of declines in the market value of equity securities that we determined
fo be other than temporary. The remaining net realized investment gains and
losses in both periods resutted from normal fernover withint our investment
portfolia.

Logses and Loss Expenses

Qur loss rato, which is the ratio of incurred losses and loss expenses to
premiums sarned, in 2005 was 56.9%, compared {0 61.7% in 2004. Our
comemercial lines loss ratio decreased to 53.0% in 2005, compared fo



60.4% in 2004. This decrease primarily resulted from the workers'
compensation loss ratio decreasing to 68.0% in 2005, compared fo 87.2%
in 2004. The personal lines loss ratio improved from 62.5% in 2004 to
58.3% in 2005, primariy as a result of improvement in the personal
automobie loss ratio to 52.4% in 2005, compared to 65.5% in 2004, and
imptoveraent in the homeowners loss ratio to 54.9% in 2005, compared to
56.4% in 2004. improvements in our 2005 loss rafios reflect the benefits of
premium pricing increases, decreased claim frequency and favorable prior
accident year loss development of $8.4 miliion in 2005, compared to
favorable development of $7.2 miflion in 2004. Favorable prior accident year
loss development in both years was largely due to favorable settlements of
open claims. The 2004 warkers' compensation loss ratio was adversely
mpacied by reserve strengthening based upon past development trends in
this fine of business.

Underwriting Expenses

Our expense ratio, which is the ratio of policy acquisitior: and other
underwriting expenses 0 premioms earned, in 2005 was 32.1%, compared
10 30.9% in 2004, Improvemeants from expense contro} efferts and reduced
guaranty fund assessments were offset by higher underwriting-based
incentive costs incurred in 2005 compared to 2004.

Combined Ratio

Our combined ratio was 89.5% and 93,1% in 2005 and 2004, respectively,
The combined ratic represents the sum of the joss ratio, expense ratio and

dividend ratio, which is the ratio of workers’ compensation poficy dividends
incurred o premiums earned. The improvement in our combined ratio was

atiributable {o the decrease in the loss rafio betweaen years.

Interest Expense

Our interest expense in 2005 was $2.3 million, compared to $1.6 mifiion in
2004, refiecting increases in the average interest rates on our subordinated
debentures compared to 2004.

Incomie Taxes

Our income tax expense was $15.4 million in 2005, compared o $10.9
million in 2004, representing effective tax rates of 29.4% in both years. The
change in effective tax rates s primarily due io tax-exempt interest income
representing a smatler proportion of income befere income tax sxpense in
2005 compared to 2004, notwithstanding a 45.5% increase in tax-exempt
interest income In 2005 compared fo 2004

Net income and Eamings Per Share

Our net income in 2005 was $36.9 miilion, an increase of 16.8% over the
$31.6 million reported in 2004, Our difuted earnings per share were §1.98 in
2008, compared to $1.74 in 2004, Gur net income for 2004 included an
extraordinary gain of $5.4 million, or $.30 per shate on a diluted basis,
related to an acguisition. Our fully diluted shares outstanding for 2005
increased to 18.6 miflion, compared t 18.2 million for 2004.

Book Value Per Share and Refurn on Equity

Our stockholders® equity increased by $35.2 million in 2005, primarily as a
result of favorable operating resuits. Book value per share increased by
11.4% 10 $15.07 at December 31, 2005, compared to $13.53 & year earlier,
Qur return on average equity was 14.2% in 2005, compared to 14.0% in
2004,

Years Ended December 3%, 2004 and 2003
Net Premiums Written

Our 2004 net premiums written ingreased by 36.9% to $283.3 million,
compared o $207.0 million for 2003. Net premiums written by Le Mars and
Peninsula were $58.8 million in 2004, representing 77% of our writlen
premium growth for the year. Commercial lines net premiums weltten
increased $30.5 million, or 39.9%, for 2004 compared to 2003, Personal
lines net premiums writien increased $45.8 miltion, or 35.1%, for 2004
compared to 2003, Excluding net premiums written by Le Mars and
Peninsuia, commercial lines net premiums written ingreased $11.4 million,
or 14.9%, fer 2004 compared fo 2003, and personal lines net premiims
writtens increased $6.1 ralflion, or 4.7%, Yor 2004 compared to 2003. We
have benefited during these perlods from premium increases by our
insurance subsidiaries that resulted from pricing actlons approved by
regulators, These increases, which related primarity to commercial Hines of
husiness in 2004, were realized in most of the states in which we operate.
tn addition to acquisition growth and pricing increases, we have also
henefited from organic growth in most of the states in which we operate.

Net Premiums Earned

Qur net premiums samed increased to $265.8 million for 2004, an increase
of $69.0 million, or 35.1%, over 2003. Our net sarned premiums during
2004 have grown due o the increase in written premiums during the year.,
Premiums are earned, or recognized as income, over the terms of our
poficies, which are generally one year or less in duration. Therefore,
increases o1 decreases in net premitms earned will generally reflect
increases or decreases in net premiums wryitten in the preceding twelve-
menth period compared to the same period one year earlier.

Investment income

Far 2004, our net ivestment income increased 19.5% to $15.9 milfion,
compared ta $13.3 million for 2003, An Increase in our average invested
assets from $376.8 million in 2003 fo $460.2 milfion in 2004 accounted for
the increase in investment income in 2004 compared to 2603. Our
annuatized average relurm was 3.5% during both years.

Instaliment Payment Fees

Our instafiment fees increased in 2004 primarily as a result of our January
1, 2004 acguisitions and, to a lesser extent, due to increases in fee rates
and policy counts during 2004,

Net Bealized Investment Gains/iosses

Our net reafized investment gaing in 2004 were $1.5 million, compared to
$1.4 miflion in 2003. Our net realized investment gains in 2004 were net of
impairment charges of $6,650, compared to impairment charges of
$237,724 recognized in 2003, Our impairment charges for bolh years were
the resuit of declines in the market value of equity securities that we
determined to be other than temporary, The remaining net reslized
investment gains and losses in both perlods resulted from normal turnover
within our investment portfolio.

Losses and Loss Expenses

Our loss ratio, which is 1he ratio of incurred losses and loss expenses fo
premiums earned, In 2004 was 61.7%, compared o 64.2% in 2003, Our
commercial lines ioss ratio Increased to 60.4% in 2004, compared 1o 57.7%
in 2003. This increase primarily resulted from the commercial abtomobite
loss ratio increasing to 53.9% In 2004, compared to 51.9% in 2003, and the
workers' compensation loss ratio increasing to 87.2% in 2004, compared to
60.5% in 2003. The personal lines loss ratio iraproved from 67.8% in 2003
i0 62.5% in 2004, primarily as a result of improvement in the personal
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atfomeblie loss ratic 1o 65.5% in 2004, compared to 69.8% in 2003, and
improvement in the homeowners loss ratio to 56.4% in 2004, compared to
65.5% In 2003, The increase in our 2004 workers’ compensation loss ratio
resulted from reserve strengthening based upon recent development trends
in this tine of business. improvementis in our 2004 loss ratios refiect the
benefits of premium pricing increases as welt as favorable prior acckdent
year loss development of $7.2 million in 2004, compared to favorable
development of $450,110 in 2003, Inciuded in the 2004 development are
decreases it the liability for josses and loss expenses of prior years for Le
Mars and Peninsula of $3.6 million and $1.4 milion, respectively, largely
due fo favorable settlements of open claims,

Ynderwriting Expenses

Qur expense ratio, which is the ratio of policy acquisition and other
underwriting expenses to premiums earned, In 2004 was 30.9%, compared
1o 30.2% in 2003. Improvemenis from expense control efforts were offset by
higher underwriting-based incentive costs incurred In 2004 compared to
2003.

Gombined Ratio

Our combined ratio was 93.1% and 95.0% In 2004 ang 20603, respectively.
The combingd ratio represents the sum of the loss rafio, expense ratio and
dividend ratio, which is the ratio of workers’ compensation policy dividends
incurred o preriums eamned. The improvement in our combined ratio was
attributable to the decrease in the loss ratio between years.

Interest Expense

Our interest expense in 2004 was $1.6 million, compared to $1.3 million in
2003, refiecting an increase in interest expense refated to the issuance of an
additional $5.2 million of subordinated debentures in 2004 and Incteases in
the average inferest rates on our subordinated debentures compared to
2003,

Income Taxes

Our incaene tax expense was $106.9 million in 2004, compared to $7.1
milliont in 2003, representing effective tax rates of 28.4% and 28.1%,
respectively. The change between effective tax rates is due o tax-exempt
interest representing a smaller proportion of income before taxes in 2004
compared to 2003,

Net Income and Earnings Per Share

Our net income in 2004 was $31.6 million; an increase of 72.8% over the
$18.3 milllon reported in 2003, Our diluted earnings per share were $1.74 in
2004, compared to $1.39 in 2003, Dur ret income for 2004 included an
exiraordinary gain of $5.4 million, or $.30 per share on a difuted bass,
related to an acquisition. Jur income before extraordinary item in 2004 was
$26.2 million, an ingrease of 43.0% over ret income reported in 2003. Our
earnings per share were impacted by an increase in the weighted average
number of shares from 13.2 million for 2003 to 18.1 million for 2604, This
Increase was primarily atbibutable to our offering of 4.6 million shares of
Class A commeon stock that was completed in December 2003.

Book Vaiue Per Share and Return on Equity

Our stockholders’ equity increased by $34.1 million in 2004, primarily as a
result of favorabie cperating results. Book value per share increased by
10.7% to $13.53 at December 31, 2004, compared to $12.22 a year earlier.
Our refuirn on averags equity was 14.0% in 2004, compared {0 12.2% in
2003.
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Financial Condition
Liguidity and Gapital Resources

Liquidity is a meastre of an entity's ability to secure enough cash to meet its
contractuai obligations and operating needs as they atise. Qur major sources
of funds from operations are the net cash flow generated from our insurance
supsidiaries” underwriting results, investment income and matuting
investments,

We have historically generated sufficient net positive cash flow from our
operations to fund our comemitments and build our investment portfolio,
thershy incraasing future investment returns, The impact of the pooling
agreement with the Mutual Company historically has been cash flow positive
because of the historical underwriting profitability of the pool. The pool is
setiied monthiy, thereby resulting in cash flows substantiaily similar to cash
flows that would result from the underwriting of direct business. We have
not experienced any unusual variations in the timing of claim payments
associated with our Joss raserves. We malntain 4 high degree of hiquidity in
our investment portfolio in the form of readily marketable fixed maturities,
equity securities and short-term investments. Our fixed-maturity investment
portfolio is structured following a “laddering” approach, so that projected
cash fiows from investment income and principal maturities are evenly
distriputed from a timing perspective, thereby providing an additional
measure of liquidity to meel our obligations should an unexpected varlation
oceur in the future. Net cash flows provided by operating activities in 2005,
2004 and 2003, were $48.9 million, $34.0 miltion and $31.0 million,
respectively.

On May 24, 2004, we received $5.0 miflton in net procesds from the
issuance of subordinated debentures. The debeniures mature on May 24,
2034 and are caltable at our option, at par, after five years. The debentures
carry an interest rate equal fo the three-month LIBOR rate plus 3.85%,
which is adjustabie guarterly. At December 31, 2005, the interest rate on the
debentures was 8.24%.

On Decernber 1, 2003, we completed an underwritten public offering of 4.6
million shares of our Ciass A common stock, resulting In net proceeds of
$59.0 milfion to us.

an November 25, 2003, we entered inie a credit agreement with
Manufacturers and Traders Trust Company ("M&T") relating to a four-year
$35.0 million unsecured, revolving fine of credit, As of December 31, 2005,
we may horrow up o $35.0 million af interest rates equal to M&T's current
prime rate or the then current LIBOR rate plus between 1.50% and 1.75%,
depending on our leveraga ratio. In addition, we pay a fee of 0.15% per
annum on the loan commitment amount, regardiess of usage. The
agrecment requires cur compliance with certain covenants, which include
minimum levels of our net worth, leverage ratio and statutory surplus and
AM. Best ratings of our subsidiaries. As of December 31, 2005, there were
o horrowings outstanding, and we complied with all requirements of the
agreament,

On October 29, 2003, we received $10.0 million in net proceeds from the
issuance of subordinated debentures. The debentures mature on October
29, 2033 and are caliable at our option, at par, after five years, The
debentures carry an interest rate equat to the three-month LIBOR rate plus
3.85%, which Is adjustable quarterly. At December 31, 2005, the interest
rate on the debentures was 8.09%.

On May 15, 2003, we received $15.0 million in net proceeds from the
Issuance of subordinated debentiires. The debeniures mature on May 15,
2033 and are callable at our option, at par, after five years. The debentures
carry an interest rate equal to the three-month LIBOR rate plus 4.10%,
which is adjustable quarterly. At December 31, 2005, the interest rate on the
debsnlures was 8.43%.



At Decernber 31, 2002, pursuant to 2 credit agreement dated December 28,
1895, and amended as of July 27, 1998, with Flget Natlenal Bank, we had
unsecured borrowings of $19.8 million. Such borowings were made in
conrection with the various acquisitions and capital contributions to our
subsidiaries, The borrowings under this Tine of credit were repaid during
2003, and this credit agreement was terminated on December 2, 2003.

The fellowing fable shows our expected payments for significant contractual
ohligations as of December 31, 2005.

Less
thar 1 1-3 4-5 After 5
(in thousands) Total year years Years years

Net lability for
uhpaid ipsses and

lnss expenses $173,000 $77,321 $79.412 $7,913 § 8,363

Subordinated

debenfures 30,8729 — e — 30,929
Total contractusal

obfigations. $203,038 $77,321 §79.412 §7.913 §36,202

The timing of the amounts for the net liability for unpaid losses and loss
expenses is estimated based on historical experience and expectations of
future payment patterns. The Hability has been shown net of reinsurance
recoverable on unpakd losses and foss expenses o reflect expected future
cash fiows related to such fiability. Assumed amounts from the pooling
agresment with the Mutual Company represent a substantial portion of our
gross lability for unpaid fosses and loss expenses, and ceded amounts to
the pooling agreement represent a substantial portion of our reinsurance
recoverable on unpaid fosses and loss expenses. Futurs cash seitlsment of
our assumed liability from the pool will be included in monthly seltlements
of pooled activity, wherein amounts ceded to and assumed from the pool are
natted. Akthough the Mutual Company and we do not anticipate any changes
in the pool participation levels in the foreseeable future, any such change
would be prospective In nature and therefore would not impact the timing of
expected payments for our proportionate iabifity for pocted losses eccurming
in periods prior to the sffective date of such change.

Dividends declared 1o stockholders totated $7.0 million, $6.2 miltion and
$4.4 miliion in 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively. There are no reguiatory
restrictions an the payment of dividends to our stockholders, afthough there
are state law restrictions on the payment of dividends from our insurance
subsidiaries 1o us, OQur insurance subsidiaries are required by law to
mairitain certain minimum surplus on a statutory basis, and are subjsct to
regulations under which payment of dividends from statutory surplus is
restricted and may require prior approval of their domiciliary insurance
regulatory authorities. Our insurance subsidiaries are subject to risk-based
capital (RBC) requirements. At December 31, 2005, our insurance
substdiaries’ capiial were sach substantiafly above the RBC requirements. In
2006, amounts availabie for distribution as dividends to us without prior
approval of their domiciliary insurance reguiatory authorities are $21.9
miliion from Atlantic States, $2.1 miliion from Le Mars, $2.9 miliion from
Peninsula and $5.4 milfion from Southern,

As of January 1, 2004, we acquired all of the outstanding capital steek of Le
Mars, the successor to Le Mars Mutual Insurance Company of lowa
foftowirg its conversion to a stock insurance company pursuant to a plan of
conversion. We gcquired the capital stock of Le Mars for approximately
$12.9 million in cash, including payment of §4.4 million to the Mutual
Company for a surplus nofe that the Mutual Company had infused infe Le
Mars and accrued interest.

Lg Mars operates as a multiple line carrier in lowa, Nebraska, Oklahoma and
South Dakota. Personal ines coverages represent a majority of premiums

written, with the balance coming from farmowners and mercantile and
service businesses. 1.6 Mars’ largest lines of business are private passenger
automobile Hability and physical damage; cifer principal lines include
homeowners and commercial multi-peril,

As of January 1, 2004, we acqulred all of the cutstanding common stock of
Peninsuta from Folksamerica Holding Company, Inc. pursuant to a stock
purchase agreement. The cash purchase price of approximately $23.5
millfon was equal to 107.5% of the consolidated GAAP stockholders” equity
of Peninsula as of the date of closing of the acquisition.

The Peninsula companies are each Maryland-tomiciled insurance
companies headquartered in Salisbury, Maryland, which write primarily
private passenger automobile coverages, and also wiite homeowners,
commerciat multi-peri, workers’ compensafion and commercial automobile
coverages. Peninsula’s principat operating area includes Maryland, Delaware
and Virginia.

On February 17, 2005, our Board of Directors approved a four-for-three split
of our Class A common stock and our Class B commoen stock effected in the
farm of a 33V5% stock dividend fo stockholders of record at the close of
business Marck 1, 2005 and paid on March 28, 2005. The capital stock
secounds, afl share amounts and earnings per share amounts for 2004 and
prior years have heen restated fo reflect this stock split.

Investments

At Decemsher 31, 2005 and 2004, our investment portfolio of investment-
grade bonds, comman steck, preferred stock, short-term investments and
cash totaled $551.8 million ard $506.4 miliien, respectively, representing
70.6% and 68.9%, respectively, of our fotal assets.

At Becember 31, 2005 and 2004, the carrying vaiue of our fixed maturity
investments represented 86.8% and 82.0% of our total invested assels,
respectively.

Our fixed-maturity investments consisted of high-quality marketable bonds,
alt of which were rated at investment-grade levels, at December 31, 2005
and 2004. As we invested excess cash from operations and procseds from
maturities of fixed-maturity investments during 2605, we increased our
holdings of tax-exempt fixed maturities in order to obtain more favorable
after-tax yialds.

At December 31, 2005, the net unwealized gain on available-for-sale fixed
maturities, net of deferred taxes, amounted to $0, compared to $3.0 mitfion
at Becember 31, 2004,

At December 31, 2005, the net unrealized gain on our equity securities, ret
of deferred taxes, amounted to $2.5 million, compared to $1.7 million at
Becember 31, 2004,

Quantitative and Gualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

We are exposed to the impact of interest rate changes, changes in market
values of investrnents and to credit risk.

In the normal course of business, we employ established policies and
procedures to manage our exposure ip changes in interest rates,
fluctuations in the value of the fair market value of our debt and equity
securities and credit risk. We seek 1o mitigate these risks by various actions
described below.

interest Rate Risk

Our exposure to markst risk for a change in interest rates is concentrated in
our investment portfolio. We monitor this exposure through perlodic reviews
of asset and liability positions. Estimates of eash flows and the impact of
interest rate fluctuations relating o the investment portfolio are monitored
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regularly. Generally, we do not hedge our exposure to interest rate risk
because we have the capacity to, and do, hold fixed maturity investments to
maturity,

Principal cash fiows and related weighted-average interest rates by
expected maturity dates for financial instruments sensitive to interest rates
at December 31, 2005 are as foliows:

Principal Weighted-Average
{in tousands) Cash Flows Interest Rate
Fixed maturities and short-term bonds:
2008 $ 55,928 2.20%
2007 30,957 4,76
2008 33,399 417
2000 41,853 4.42
2010 28,402 4.82
Thereafter 304,838 476
Totat $405,377
Market vaiue $504,352
Debt;
Thersafter $ 30,928 8.28%
Total $ 30,929
Fair value $ 30,929

Actuat cash flows from investments may differ from those stated as a result
of ealls and prepayments,

Equity Price Risk

Our portolio of marketable equity securities, which is carried on our
consolidated balance sheefs at estimated fair value, has exposure io price
rigk, the risk of potential loss in estimated fair value resulting from an
adverse change in prices. Qur objective is 1o earn competitive relative
returns by investing in a diverse portfolio of high-guaiity, liquid securities.

Credit Risk

Gur objective is to earn competitive returns by investing in a diversified
portfolio of securities, Our portfolio of fixed-maturity securities and, to a
lesser extent, shori-term investments is subjeet to credit risk. This risk is
defined as the potential loss in market value resulting from adverse changes
in the borrower's abikity to repay the debt. We manage this risk by
performing an analysis of prospestive investments and through regular
reviews of our portfofio by our nvestment staff, We also fimit the amount
that any one secutily can constitute of our fotal mvestment portfofic.

We provide property and Hability Insurance coverages through independent
insurance agencies located throughout our operating area. The majorily of
this business is bilied directly to the insured, although a portion of our
commercial husiness is billed through our agents to whom we extend credit
in the normal course of business.

Because the pooling agreement dees not relieve Atlantic States of primary
liabifity as the originating insurer, we are subject to a conceniration of credit
risk arising from business ceded fo the Mutual Company. Our insurance
sibsidiaries maintain reinsurance agreements in place with the Mutuat
Company and with a sumber of other major unaffiliated authorized
reinsurers.
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Irapact of inflation

Property and casuatty insurance premium rates are established befors the
amount of fosses and loss seltfernent expenses, or the extent to which
inflation may impact such expenses, are knowr. Consequently, we attempt,
in establishing rates, to anticipate the potential impact of infiation.

impact of New Accounting Standards

in Desember 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued SFAS
No. 123{R), “Share-Based Payment,” a revision of SFAS No. 123 and
superseding APB Opinlon No. 25. SFAS No. 123(R) requires the
measurement of alt employee share-based payments fo employess,
inctuding grants of employee stock options, using & fair-value-based method
and the recording of such expense in our consolidated statements of
income, In Aprii 2005, the Securities and Exchange Commission delayed the
effeciive date of SFAS No. 123(R) and stated that the provisions of SFAS No.
123(R) are now effective for annual reporting periods beginning after June
15, 2005, We are requlred fo adopt SFAS No. 123(R) in the fiest guarier of
2006, Upon adoption, the pro forma disclosures previeusly permitted undar
SFAS No. 123 will no longer be an afternative to financial statement
recognition. We are evaltating the alternatives allowed under the standard,
and we expect the adoption of SFAS No. 123(R} to resuit in amounts that are
stmilar o the current pro forma disciosures under SFAS No. 123 for gl
share-based payment transactions through December 31, 2005, The impact
of any future share-based payment transactions on our financial pesition of
results of operations cannot be determined. SFAS No. 123(R) also requires
the benefits of tax deductions in excess of recognized compensation cost to
be reported as a financing cash fiow, rather than as an operating cash flow
as required under current rales. This requirement will reduce net operating
cash flows and increase net financing cash flows in periods afer adoption.
The amount of cperating cash flows recognized for such excess fax
deductions were $1.8 million, $2.2 millior and $179,697 in 2005, 2004 and
2003, respectively.

In September 2005, the Accounting Standards Executive Cormmittee issued
S0P 05-1, “Accounting by Insurance Enterprises for Deferred Acguisition
Costs In Connection with Modifications or Exchanges of Insurance
Contracts.” SOP 05-1 provides guidance on accounting by insurance
enterprises for deferred acquisition costs on internal replacements of
insurance and investment cortracts other than those specifically described
in FAS 97, “Accounting and Reporting by Insurance Enterpsises for Certain
Long-Duration Contracts and for Realized Gains and Logses from the Sale of
Invesiments.” SOP 05-1 defines an internal replacement as a modification in
product benefits, features, rights or coverages that occurs by the exchange
of a confract for a new contract, or by amendment, endorsement ar rider fo
a contract, or by the election of a feature or coverage within a contract. SOP
05-1 is effective for internal replacements oceurring in fiscal years
beginning after December 15, 2006, with earlier adoption encouraged, We
do not expect the impact of adopting SOP 05-1 will have a significant effest
on operations, financial condition or liguidity.



Nonegal Group ing,

Consolidated Balance Sheets

December 31, 2005 2004
Assels
Investmenis
Fixed maturities
Held ie maturity, at amortized cost {falr value $178,601,127 and $184,688,482) $180,182,305 $182,573,784
Available for sale, at fair value {amortized cost $295,097,229 and $222,071,804) 285,097,235 226,757,322
Equity securities, available for salg, at fair value {cost $28,993,361 and $30,770,759) 33,371,360 33,504,976
Invesiments in affiliates 8,441,546 8,864,741
Short-term Investments, at cast, which approximates fair valus 30,653,668 47,368,500
Total investments 547,746,114 498,069,332
Cash 3,811,011 7,350,330
Accrued investment income §,521,335 4,961,173
Premiums receivable 47,124,108 44,266,681
Reinsurance receivable 94,137,006 98,478,657
Deferred polley acquisition costs 23,476,593 22,257,760
Deferred tax asset, net 11,532,834 10,922,440
Prepaid reinsurance premiums 40,063,138 35,807,376
Property and equipment, net 5,234,423 5,508,840
Accounts receivable — securities 411,149 1,383,587
Federal income taxes recoverable 901,341 3,468,506
Gther 1,462,448 1,840,718
Total asseis $781,421,588 $735,415,401
Liabilities and Stockholders’ Fquity
Liabilities
Losses and Ipss expenses $265,729,527 $267,190,060
Unearned premitms 186,660,050 174,458,423
Accrued expenses 12,706,485 13,413,518
Reinsurance halances payable 1,814,292 1,716,372
Cash dividends declared 1o stockholders 1,781,393 1,566,395
Subordinated debentures 30,829,000 30,829,600
Accounts payable — securities 896,593 e
Due to affiliate 728,486 240,680
Drafis payable 703,912 1,278,433
Other 1,575,364 1,917,606
Total liabitities 503,525,402 492,711,087
Stockholders’ Equity
Preferred stock, $1.00 par value, authorized 2,000,000 shares; nong issued e s
Class A common stock, $.01 par value, authorized 30,000,000 shares,
issued 14,367,344 and 13,859,771 shares and outstanding 14,258,646 and 13,755,351 shares 143,673 138,598*
Class B common stock, $.01 par value, authorized 10,000,000 shares,
issued 4,237,033 and 4,236,366 shares and outstanding 4,182,684 and 4,182,617 shares 42,370 42,364
Additionai paid-in capital 141,932,954 131,980,264
Accumulated other comprehensive income 2,532,073 4,749,865
Retained earnings 134,136,864 106,684,871
Treasury sfosk, at cost {891,748) {891,748}
Totai stockholders’ equity 277,896,186 242,704,314
Fotal liabilities and stockholders' equity $781,421,588 .$735,415,401

*All 2004 capital accounts and share information have been restated for a 4-for-3 stock split as discussed in footnote 1.

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial staiements,
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Donegal Group Ing,

Consolidated Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income

Year Ended December 31, 2005 2004 2083
Statements of Income
Revenues
Net premiums earned (includes affiliated reinsurance of
$104,228,169, $100,773,324 and $94,173,834 ~ see footnoie 3) $2064,498,023 $7265,838,594 $196,792,695
Investment income, net of investment expenses 18,471,963 15,906,728 13,315,936
Instailment payment fees 4,123,856 3,686,720 2,464,604
Lease income 950,543 890,306 845,211
Net realized investment gains 1,802,809 1,466,220 1,368,031
Other income — — 205,850
Totai revenuss 319,847,194 287,788,638 214,992,328
Expenses . '
Net fosses and foss expenses (includes affiliated reinsurance of
$60,284,232, $55,109,122 and $53,659,974 ~ see foolnote 3) 167,541,897 164,141,368 126,243,311
Amortization of deferrad policy acquisition costs 47,234,000 39,434,000 30,839,000
Other underwriting expenses 47,163,396 42,544,166 28,686,365
Policy dividends 1,620,606 1,300,893 1,164,773
Interest 2,266,346 1,613,511 1,287,197
Other 1,675,454 1,700,449 1,345,307
Total expenses 267,501,600 250,734,387 189,555,953
Income before income tax expense and extraordinary item 52,345,495 37,054,251 25,436,375
Income tax expense 15,395,998 10,885,652 7,142,308
Income before extraordinary item 36,949,487 26,168,599 18,203,976
Extraordinary gain ~ unallocated negafive goodwill —_— 5,445,570 —
Net income $ 36,949,497 $ 31,614,269 $ 18,203,976
Baskc earnings per commaon share
Income before extraordinary item $ 2.05 $ 1.49% $ 1.43*
Extraordinary item — 31 —
Net income $ 2.05 $ 1.80% $ 1.43*
Miuted earnings per commen share
Income before extraordinary item $ 1.88 § 1.44* $ 1.39%
Extraordinary item i 30 e
Net income $ 1.98 § 1.74* $ 1.39*
Stalements of Comprehensive Income
Net income $ 36,949,497 $ 31,614,269 $ 18,283,976
Other comprehensive income {Joss), net of tax
Unreaiized gains on securities:
Unrealized holding gain (joss) arlsing during the period, net of income
tax {benefit) of ($563,267), $221,820, and $754,840 {1,046,066) 412,085 1,268,190
ReclassHication adiustment for gakns included in net income,
net of income tax of $630,983, $513,177 and $478,811 (1,171,826) {953,043) {889,220)
Other comprehensive income (foss) {2,217,892) {540,958) 378,970
Comprehensive income $ 34,731,608 $ 31,073,311 $ 18,672,846

*All 2004 and 2003 per share information has been resiated for a 4-for-3 stock split as discussed in footnetel.

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Donegal Group Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’

Equity

Accumlated
Additional Other Total

ClassA  Class B Class B Pald-tn Comprehensive Retalned Treaswry  Stockhelders’

Siares  Shares Amount Capital income Earnings Stork Equity
Bafance, January 1, 20063* 8,358,250 4032,768 § 83,583 $40328 & 60,651,751 $ 4,911,953 $ 68,366,083 §(801,748) $133,182,85¢
issuance of commen siock 4,729,333 66,193,670 60,240,963
MNat income 18,203,076 18,293,078
Cash dividends (4,372,154} (4,372,154}
Exercise of stock options 8h884 38002 361 744310 745,530
Grant of stosk options a78,077 (076,077) —
Tax benefit on exercise of stock options 179,097 179,097
GOther comprehensive income 378,978 378,970
Batance, December 31, 003" 13,173,476 4,068,860 $40,689  $122,744805 . $ 5290923 $ 81,332,728 §[801,748) §208,649,232
Issuance of commaon stock B4,982 ' 3 850,945 860,528
et income 31,614,269 31,614,269
Cash dividends {6,174,867) (6,174,867}
Exercise of stock options 621,313 167,128 1,672 6,081,938 6,089,823
Grant of stock options 87,258 {87,259} s
Tax benefit on exercise of stock eptions 2,208,217 2,208,217
Gther comprehensive 1oss (540,958) {540,958 )
Bafancs, Decomber 31, 2004* 13,868,771 4,236,366 $42364  $131980,264  § 4,749.965 $106684,871  $(801,748) §242,704,314
issuance of common stock §3,128 1,148.902 1,150,623
Het income 36,849,447 36,940,487
Gash dividends (7,027,541} (7,027,541}
Exersise of stock opfions 444,447 6 4,395,308 4,400 258
Grant of stock oplions 2,469,963 (2,468,963} —
Tax henefit on exercise of stock opfions 1,836,927 1,936,927
Other comprehensive loss (2,217,892} {2,217 892)
Balance, Becember 31, 2005 14,367,344 4,237,033 $143,673 $42370  $141,932,954 $ 2,532,073 $134,136,864  ${BY1,748) $277,896,186

*All 2004 and 2003 capital acoounts and share information have been restated for a 4-fer-3 stock split as discussed in footnote 1.

See accompanying notes o consolidated financiat stalements,
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Donegal Group inc.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Year Ended December 31, 2005 2004 2003
Cash Flows from Operating Activities:
Net income $36,048,497 $31,614,260 $18,293,976
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash
provided by operating activities:
Extraordinary gain — unallocated negative goodwill e (5,445,670} e
Depreciation and amortization 3,066,227 2472813 1,532,664
Net realized investment gains {1,802,809) {1,466,220} (1,368,031
Changes in Assets and Liabilities:
Losses and loss expenses (1,460,533) 13,353,426 7,222,305
Unearned premiums 12,201,627 20,002,138 13,025,588
Accrued expenses (707,033} 2,406,540 1,186,054
Premiums receivable (2,857,425} {6,638,081) {2,730,458)
Deferred policy acquisition costs {1,218,833) {6,033,995) (1,656,695)
Deferred income faxes 583,857 (405,258) {352,731)
Reinslrance receivable 4,341,561 (8,402,114) 2,198,166
Accrued investment income {560,162) (503,171} 63,374
Amounts due to/from affiliate 487,806 (663,772} {3,175,963)
Reinsurance bafances payabie 87,920 {576,711} 255,353
Prepaid reinsurance premiums {4,155,762) {2,558,204} (2,837,658)
Current income faxes 4,504,092 (1.852,087) 137,358
Other, net {538,492) {308,822) (820,406}
Net adjustments 11,882,041 2,382,804 12,678,920
Net cash provided by operating activities 48,931,538 33,897,073 30,972,836
Cash Flows from investing Activities:
Purchase of fixed maturities
Held to maturity (9,747,396) {64,926,048) (51,747,067}
Available for sale {144,354,178) (75,037,253) {104,935,346)
Purchase of equity securities {21,643,113) (20,631,815} (16,505,807}
Saie of fixed maturities
Held to maturity 860,000 — 1,871,000
Available for sale 46,928,296 27,813,196 16,575,179
Maturity of fixed maturities
Held to maturity 18,403,050 21,448,791 22,256,933
Available for sale 23,951,015 53,944,121 84,393,268
Sale of equity securities 26,320,709 14,924,971 12,457,028
Purchase of Le Mars insurance Company (net of cash acquired) — (11,816,523) —
Purchase of Peninsula insurance Group (net of cash acquired) — {21,912,629) e
Net decrease (increase) in investment in affiliates 52,181 (2,222,872) (4,048,000)
Net purchase of property and equipment {703,600} {521,095} (371,411
Net sales {purchases) of shori-term investments 16,714,841 40,259,336 (49,314,707)
Net cash used in Investing activities {51,208,595} {38,673,820) {89,268,996)
Cash Flows from Financing Activities:
Issuance of common stock 5,550,881 6,948,287 60,974,365
Issuantce of subordinated debentures e 5,155,000 25,774,000
Payments on fine of credit e — (19,800,600}
Cash dividends paid (6,813,143) (5,984,731} (3,868,348)
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities (1,262,262} 6,118,556 63,080,017
Net increase {decrease} in cash {3,539,319} 1,441,809 4,783,817
Cash at beginning of year 7,350,330 8,908 521 1,124,604
Cash at end of year $ 3,811,011 $ 7,350,330 $ 5,908,521

See accompanying notes fo consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

1 — Summary of Significant Aceounting Policies

Organization and Business

We were organized in 1986 as a downstream insurance holding company by
Danegal Mutual insurance Company {he “Mutual Company™) and operate
predominantly as an underwriter of property and casualty insurance through
our subsidiaries. Our property and casualty insurance subsidiaries, Atlantic
States Insurance Company ("Atlantic States”), Southern Instrance Company
of Virginia (“Seuthern™), Le Mars Insurance Company (“Le Mars”), and the
Perinsula Insurance Grotip ("Peninsula™, which consists of Peninsuta
tndemnity Company and The Peninsifa Insurance Company, write personal
and commerciat lines of property and casualty coverages exciusively through
a hetwork of independent insurance agents in the Mid-Atlantie, Midwest and
Southern states. We have three operafing segments: the investment
furction, $he personal Hines function and the commercial fines function. Our
personal lnes products consist primarfly of homeowners and private
passenger automobile policies. Our eommercial fires products consist
primarily of commercial automobile, commercial multi-peril and workers’
compensation nolicies. At December 31, 2008, the Mutual Company held
approximately 42% of our outstanding Class A common stock and
approximatety 67% of our cutstanding Ciass B common stock, We refer fo
the Mutual Campany and our insurance substdiaries as the Dohegal
Insurance Group.

Attantic States participates in a pooling agreement with the Mutuat
Company. Under the pooling agreement, the insurance business of the two
companies is pooled, and Alantic States assumes 70% of the pooled
business. We do not anticipate any changes in the pooling agreement with
the Mutual Company, including changes in Atlantic States’ pool participation
levet, In the foreseeable future, The risk profiles of the business written by
Aflantic States and the Mutual Company higtorically have been, and coniinue
1o be, substantially similar. The products, classes of business underwritten,
pricing practices and underwriting standards of both companies are
determined and administered by the same management and underwriting
personnel, Further, as the Donegal insurance Group, the companies share a
combined business pian to achleve market penetration and undenwriting
profitability objectives. The products marketed by Atlantic States and the
Mutual Company are generally complementary, thereby allowing Donegal
Insurance Group to offer a broader range of products fo a given market and
to expand Donegat Insurance Group's ability to service an entire persenal
lines or commergial lires account. Distinctions within the products of the
respective companies generally relate to specific risk profiles targeted within
shmilar classes of business, such as preferred tier versus standard tier
products, but rot all of the standard risk gradients are allocated to one
company. Therefore, the underwrifing profitability of the business directly
written by the individual companies will vary, However, as the risk
characteristics of all business written directly by both companies are
homogenized within the pool and each company shares the results
according to its participation level, we realize 70% of the underwriting
profitability of the pool (because of our 70% participation in the pool}, while
the Mutuar Company realizes 30% of the underwriting profitability of the
oool {because of the Mutual Company's 30% participation in the pool).
Pooled business represents the predominant percentage of the net
underwriting activity of both participating companies. See Note 3 ~
Transacticns with Affiliates for more information regarding the pooling
agreement.

We also own 48.1% of the oufstanding stock of Donegal Financial Services
Corporation (“DFSC™), a thrift holding company that owns Province Bank
FSB. The remaining 51.9% of the outstanding stock of DFSC is owned by the
Mutial Company.

On December 1, 2003, we completed an underwritien public offering of 4.6
millton shares of our Class A common stock, resulting In niet proceeds of
$59.0 milion fo us.

(On Septamber 21, 2005, certain members of the Donegal [nsurance Group
enfered into an Acguisttion Rights Agreement with The Shelby Insurance
Company and Shelby Casuatty Insurance Company (fogether, “Shelby”), part
of Vesta Insurangce Group, Inc. The agreement grants those members the
right, at their discretion and subject to their fraditional underwriting and
agency appointment standards, 1o offer renewal or replacement policies to
the holders of Shetby's personal lines policies in Pennsylvania, Tennesses
and Alabama, in connection with Shelby's plans of withdrawal from those
three states. As part of the agreement, the Donegat Insurance Group will pay
specified amounts to Shelby based on the direct premiums wriilen by the
Donegal Insurance Group on the renewal and replacement policies it issues.
Renewal and replacement policies will be offered for policies issued on or
after January 1, 2008, Thus, the agreement had no impact on our 2005
operating resuits,

Basis of Gonsolidation

The consolidated financial statements, which have been prepared in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of Amerlea, include our accounts and those of our wholly owned
subsidiaries. Al significant inter-company accounts and transactions have
been eliminated in consolidation. The terms "we,” “us” *our,” or the
“Gompany” as used herein refer to the consolidated eniity.

Use of Estimates

In preparing the cansolidated financial statements, management is required
1o make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of
assets and labifities as of the date of the balance sheet and reventies and
expenses for the perind. Actual results could differ significantly from those
estimates.

We make estimates and assumptions that can have a significant effect on
amounts and disclosures we report in our financial statements. The most
significant estimates relate to cur reserves for properly and casualty
insurance unpaid losses and loss expenses, valuation of investments and
policy acquisition costs. While we believe our estimates are appropriate, the
ultimate amounts may differ from the estimates provided. The methods for
making these estimates ara regularly reviewed, and any adjustment
eonsidered necessary Is refiected In our current results of operations.

Reclassification

Certain amounts as reported in the Consofidated Balance Sheets,
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows and Notas to Consolidated Financial
Statements in 2004 and 2003 have been reciassified to conform to the
current year presentation. The capital stock accounts, all share amounts and
earnings per share amounts for 2004 and 2603 have been restated to reflect
the four-for-three solit of our Class A common stock and our Class B
commmon stock effected in the form of a 33%4% stock dividend to
stockholders of record at the close of busingss March 1, 2005 and paid on
March 28, 2005.
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Investments
We classify our debt and equity securities into the following categories:

Held 1o Maturity ~ Debt securities that we have the positive infent and
ability to bold to maturity; reporied at amortized cost.

Avaitable for Sale - Equity securities and debt securities not classified as
held to maturity; reported at fair value, with unrealized gains and
tosses excluded from ingome ang reported as a separate component
of stockholders’ equity (net of tax effecis).

Short-$erm investments are carried at amortized cost, which
approximatas fair value.

We make estimates concerning the valuation of our investmants and the
recognition of other than temporary deelines in the valug of our investments.
When we consider the decline in valug of an individual invesiment o be
other than temporary, we write down the investment to its estimated net
realizable value, and the amount of the write-down Is reflected as a realized
Toss in our staterent of income. We individually monitor alt investments for
other than temporary declines in value. Generatly, if an individual equity
seclrity has depreciated in value by more than 20% of original cost, and has
been in an unrealized ioss positicn for more than six months, we assume
{here has been an other than temporary decline in value. With respect to
debt securities, we assume there has been an other than temporary decline
in value if it Is probable that contraciual payments will not be received. In
addition, we may write down securifies in an unrealized loss position based
on a number of other factors, ingluding the fair value of the investment
being significantly below its cost, the deteriorating financial condifion of the
issuer of a security, the oceurrence of industry, company and geagraphic
events that have negativaly impacted the value of 2 security and rafing
agency downgrades.

Premiurns and discounis on debt securities are amortized over the life of the
security as an adjustment to yield using the effective interest method.
Realized investment gains and losses are computed using the specific
identification method.

Premiums and discounts for mortgage-backed debt securities are amortized
using anticipated prepayments.

investments in affiiates are accounted for using the equity mathod of
accourding in accordance with Accounting Principles Board (APB) Opinion
No, 18, “The Equity Method of Accounting for Investments in Common
Stock.” Under the equity method, we record our investment at cost, with
adjustments for our shars of affiliate earnings and losses as well as changes
in affiliate equity due to unrealized gains and losses.

Fair Yalues of Financial Instruments

We have used the following methods and assumptions in estimating our fair
value disclosures:

Investments — Falr values for fixed maturity securities are based on
fuoted market prices, when avaflable. If quoted market prices are rot
available, fair values are based o quoted market prices of
comparable tnstruments or values obtained from independent pricing
services through a bank trustee. The fair values for equity securities
are based on quoted market prices.

Cash and Short-Term Investments - The carrying amounts reported in
the balance sheet for these instruments approximate their fair values.

Premium and Reinsurance Receivables and Payables — The carrying
amounts reported in the balance sheet for these instruments
approximate their fair values.
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Subortinated Debentures — The carrying amounts rsported in the
batanes sheet for these instruments approximate fair vatue due to
their varlable rate nature.

Revenue Recoghition

Insurance premiums are recognized as income over the terms of the
policies. Unsarned premiums are calcutated on a daily pro-rata basis.

Palicy Astuisition Costs

Peticy acquisition coste, consisting primarfly of commissions, premium taxes
and certain other underwriling costs that vary with and are directly related fo
the production of business, are deferred and amorlized over the period In
which the premiums are earned. The method followed in computing deferred
policy acquisition costs limits the amount of such deferred costs to thelr
estimated realizable vaiue, which gives effect to the premium to be eamed,
related investment income, losses and loss expenses and cerlain other costs
expected 1o be incurred as the premium is earned. Estimates in the
caloulation of poficy acquisition costs have not shown material variability
hecause of uncertainties in applying accounting principles or a¢ a result of
sensitivities 1o changes in key assumptions.

Property and Eguipment

Property and equipment are reported at depreciated cost that is computed
using the stralght-fine method based upon estimated useful lives of the
assets,

Losses and Loss Exuenses

Liabilitiss for losses and loss expenses are estimates at a given point in time
of the amounts an insurer expects o pay with respect to policyhelder claims
hased on facis and circumstances then known. An insurer recognizes at the
ime of establishiry its estimates that its ultimate Hability for losses and loss
expenses witl exceed or be less than such estimates. Jur estimates of
Habilities for losses and loss expenses are based on assumptions as to
future loss trands and expected claims severily, judicial theories of Hability
and other factors. However, during the loss adjustment pericd, we may learn
additional facts regarding individual claims, and consequently it often
becomes necessary to refine and adjust our estimates of our fiability. We
reflest any adjustments fo our fiabiliies for losses and loss expenses in our
operating results in the period in which the changes in estimates are made.

We maintain Habilities for the payment of losses and loss expenses with
respect to both reposrted and unreported claims. Liabilities for loss expenses
are intended to cover the ulfimate costs of setfling all losses, including
investipation and litigation costs from such losses. We base the amount of
liability for reportad losses primarlly upon a case-by-case evafuation of the
type of risk mvolved, knowledge of the circumstances surrounding sach
claim and he insurance policy provisiens relating to ihe type of loss. We
determine the amount of our liahility for unreported claims and loss
expensas on the basis of historical information by line of instrance. We
account for inflation In the reserving function through analysis of costs and
trends, and reviews of historical reserving results, We closely monitor our
lizbilities and recompute them periodically using new information on
reported claims and a varigty of statistical techriques. Our fiabilities for
logses are not discountad.

Reserve estimates can change over time becaese of unexpected changes in
assumptions related to our external environment and, to a iesser extent,
assumptions as to our intersal operations. Assumptions related to owr
exiernal environment include the absence of significant changes In tort law
and the iegal envizonment that increase fiability expostre, consistency i
judicial interpretations of Insurance coverage and policy provisions and



stability in economic conditions and the rate of foss cost inflation. For
example, we have experienced a decrsase in clalms frequency on bodily
injury liabifity claims during the past several years while claims severily has
gradually increassed. These trend changes give rise to greater uncertainty as
1o the pattern of future loss selifements on bodily injury claims. Related
unceriainties regarding future trends include the cost of medical
technologies and precedures and changes in the ulflization of medical
procedures. Internal assumptions include accurate measurement of the
impact of rate changes and changes in policy provisions and consistenay in
the quality and sharacteristics of business written within & given line of
busipess, and consistency In reinsurance coverage and collectibility of
reinsured (osses, among other items, To the extent we determine that
underlying factors impacting our assumptions have charged, we attempt to
make appropriate adjustments for such changes in our reserves.
Accordingly, our itimate Hiahility for unpaid fosses and loss expenses will
likety differ from the amount recorded.

We seek to enhance our underwriting resulis by carefully selecting the
produst lines we underwrite. For our personal lines products, we insure
standard and preferred risks in private passenger awtomobile and
homeowners fines. For our commerciat lines products, the commercial risks
that we primarily insure are mercantite risks, business offices, wholesalers,
setvice providers, contractors and artisan risks, avoiding industrial and
manufaciuring exposures. We have limited exposure to asbestos and other
environmental liabilities, We write no medical malpractice or professional
liahility risks.

Guaranty Fund Liability Accruals

We make estimates of our insurance subsidiaries’ Habilities for guaranty
fund and other assessments because of insurance company insolvencies
from states in which our insurance subsidiaries are licensed. Generally, an
insurer is subjest to assessment, depending upen its markst share of a
given line of business, to assist in the payment of unpai¢ claims ard related
costs of insolvent insurance companies. We generaily record our fability for
such assessments a8 we write premiums upen which those assessments
are based.

Income Taxes
We currently file a consolidated faderal income tax return,

We account for income taxes Using the asset and fabifity method. The
ohjective of the asset and fibility method is fo establish deferred tax assets
and liabilities for the semporary differences betwesn the financial reparting
basis and the tax basis of our assets and Habilities at enacted tax rates
expecied to be In effest when such amounts arg realized or setfted.

Gredit Risk

Our objective is to earn competitive returns by investing in a diversified
porifolio of securities. Qur portfolio of fixed-maturity securities and, to a
lesser extent, short-term investments is subject to credit risk. This risk is
defined as the potential loss in market value resulting from adverse changes
in the borrower's ability te repay the dett. We manage this risk by performing
an analysis of prospective investments and through regular reviews of our
porifolio by our investment staff. We also limit the amount that any one
security can constitite of our total investment portfolio.

We provide property and lability coverages through independent agency
systems located througholt our insurance subsidiaries’ operating areas. The
majority of this business is biled directy to the insured, athough a portion of
our commercial business is bifled through our agents, who are extended
credit in the normal course of business.

fur insurance subsidiaries have reinsurance agreements in place with the
Mutuat Company and with a number of other authorized reinsurers with at
least an AM. Best rating of A- or an equivalent financial cendition.

Reinsurance Accounting and Reporting

We rety upon reinsurance agreements to limit our maximum net loss from
large single risks or risks in concentrated areas, and to increase our
capacity to write insurance. Reinsurance does not refieve the primary insurer
{rom Hability to its policyholders. To the extent that a reinsurer may be
unable to pay losses for which it is liable under the terms of a reinsurance
agreement, we are exposed to the risk of continued liability for such losses.
However, in an effort to reduce the risk of non-payment, we require afl of
our reinsurers to have an A.M. Best rating of A- or better or, with respect to
forelgn reinsurers, o have a financial condition that, in the opinion of
management, is equivalent to a company with at least an A- rating. All
reinstrance transactions are recorded in 2 manner consistent with
Statement of Financial Aceounting Standards (SFAS) No. 113, “Accounting
and Reporting for Reinsurance of Short-Duration and Long-Duration
Contracts.” See Note 10 - Reinsurance for more information regarding our
reinsurance agreements.

Stock-Based Compensation

Fffective July 1, 2000, we adopied Financial Accounting Standards Board
(FASBY) Interprefation No. 44 (FIN No. 44}, “Accounting for Cerfain
Transactions involving Stock Compsnsation,” and Emerging lssues Task
Force Issue No. 00-23 (EITF 00-23), “issues Related 1o the Accouniing for
Stock Compensation under APB Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued
to Employees and FIN No. 44, Accounting for Certain Transactions involving
Stock Compensation.” Pursuant {o FIN No. 44, APB Opinion No, 25 does not
apply in the separate financial statements of a subsidiary to the accounting
for stock compensation granted by the subsidiary to employees of the parent
or another subsidiary. EFTF 00-23 states that when employees of 2
controlting entity are granted stock compensation, the entily granting the
stock compensation shoufd measure the fair value of the award at the grant
tlate and recognize the fair value as a dividend to the conirolling entity.
These provisions apply to us, because the Mutual Company is the employer
of record for substantiatly all employees that provide services to us.

We account for stock-based director compensation plans under the
provisions of APB Opinion No, 25 and related interpretations. During 2001,
we adopted an Equity Incentive Plan for Birectors that made 266,667 shares
of Class A commaon stock available for Issuance. Awards may be made in
the form of steck options, and the plan additionally provides for the isstiance
of 233 shares of restricted stock to each director on the first business day of
January in each year. No stock-based director compensation is reflected in
income for grants of stock opiions, as all options granted urder those plans
had an exercise price equal fo, or greater than, the market value of the
undertying common stock on the date of the grant.

The following fable Hustrates the effect on net income and earnings per
share as if we had applied the provisions of SFAS No. 123 {as amended by
SFAS No. 148), “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation.”

2005 2004 2003

Net income, as reported $36,049,497  $31,614,269  $18,203,978
Less:

Total stock-based employee

compensation expense

determined under fair-

value-hased method

for all awards, net of

related tax effects {66,427) (18,657} {12,082)
Pro forma net income $36,883,070  $31,505812  $18,281,884
Basic earnings per share:

As reported § 205 % 180 § 1.43

Pro forma 204 1.80 1.43
Dilited earnings per share:

As reported E) 198 & 174§ 1.39

Pro forma 1.98 1.74 1.38
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The weighted-average grant date fair value of options granted during 2005
was $4.36. This fair value was calculated based upon a risk-free inferest
rate of 4%, expected life of 3 years, expected volatility of 30% and expacted
dividend vield of 2%.

The weighied-average grant date fair value of options granted during 2003
was $2.18. This fair value was calculated based upon a risk-free interest
rate of 1.8%, expacted life of 3 years, expected velatility of 34% and
expected dividend yield of 4%.

Earnings per Share

Basic earnhings per share are calcutated by dividing net income by the
weighted-average number of common shares outstanding for the period,
while dituted earnings per share reflects the dilution that could occur if
securities or other contracts o Issue common stock were exercised or
eonverted Info comman steck.

2 - Impact of New Accounting Standards

in December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 123(R), “Share-Based
Payment,” a revision of SFAS No. 123 and superseding APB Cpinion No. 25.
SFAS No. 123(R) requires the msasurement of all employee share-based
payments to employees, including grants of employee stock options, using a
fatr-valug-based method and the recording of such expense in our
consolidated statements of income. tn April 2005, ihe Securities and
Exchange Commission delayed the effective date of SFAS No, 123(R) and
stated that the provisions of SFAS No. 123(R) are now effective for annual
repotting periods beginning after June 15, 2005. We are required to adopt
SFAS No. 123(R) In the first quarter of 2006. Upon adaption, the pro forma
disclosures previously permitted under SFAS No. 123 will no longer be an
aiternative o financiat statement recognition. We are evaluating the
alternatives allowed under the standard, and we expect the adoption of
SFAS No. 123(R) to result in amounts that are similar to the current pro
forma dizelosures under SFAS No, 123 for &ll share-based payment
transactions through December 31, 2005. The impact of any future share-
based payment transactions on our financial position or results of operations
cannot be determirned. SFAS No. 123(R) also requires the benefits of tax
deductions in excess of recognized compensation cost to be reported as a
financing cash flow, rather than as an operating cash flow as reguired under
current rutes. This requirersent will reduce net operating cash flows and
ingrease net financing cash flows in periods after adoption. The amount of
operating cash flows recognized for such excess tax deductions wers $1.9
miflion, $2.2 million and $179,097 in 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

In September 2005, the Accounting Standards Executive Commities issued
Statement of Posilion (SOP) 05-1, “Accounting by Insurance Enterprises for
Deferred Acquisition Costs in Connection with Modifications or Exchanges of
Insurance Contracts.” SOP 05-1 provides guidance on accounting by
insurance enterprises for deferred acquisition costs on infernal replacements
of insurance and investment contracts other than those specifically
described in FAS 97, “Accounting and Reporting by Insurance Enterprises for
Certain Long-Duration Contracts and for Reafized Gains and Losses from the
Sale of Investments.” SOP 05-1 defines an internal replacement as 2
modification in product benefits, features, rights or coverages that occurs by
the exchange of a cordract for a new conract, by amendment, endorsement
o rider to a contract or by the election of a feature or coverage within a
contract. SOP 05-1 is effective for internal replacements occurring in fiscal
years begining after December 15, 20086, with eatlier adoption encouraged.
We do not expect the impact of adopting SOP 05-1 wilt have a significant
effect on our operations, financial condition or liquidity.
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3 -— Transactions with Affiliates

We conduct business and have various agreements with the Mutual
Company that are described below:

a. Reinsurance Pooling and Other Reinsurance Arrangements

Atlantic States, our largest subsidiary, and the Mutual Company have a
pooling agreement under which both companies contribute alf of their direct
written business o the poo! and are altocated a given percentage of the
poo!'s combined underwriting resulls, excluding certain reinsurance
assumed by the Mutual Company frem our insurance subsidiaries and after
giving effect to reinsurance transactions with other insurets or reinsurers
who are not a parly to the pooling agreement, Atiantic States has a 70%
share of the results of the poot, and the Mutual Compaty has a 30% share
of the results of the pool. The peoling agreement is intended to produce
more uniform and stable underwriting results from year to year for each pool
parficipant than they would experience individually and to spread the risk of
loss among the participants based on each parficipant’s relative amount of
surplus and relative access to capital. Each participant in the pool has at ifs
disposal the capactty of the entire pool, rather than being limited to policy
gxposures of a size cormmensurate with its own capital and surplus.

The following amounts represent ceded refnsurance transactions refafed fo
the pooiing agreement for 2005, 2004 and 2003:

2005 2004 2003
$ 72,448,322 $ 62,831,701 § 55,846,128
$ 42,221,699 § 42,487,082 § 35,840,578

Premiums earred

Logses and loss expenses

Prepaid reinsurance

premiums $ 38,332,137 $ 34,227,955 $ 29,981,597

Liabitity for losses and

loss expenses $ 56,024,073 § 57,989,162 § 52,263,271

The following amounts represent assumed refnsurance transactions related
to the pooting agreement for 2005, 2004 and 2003

2005 2004 2003
$181,879,294 $167,949,892 §153,068,026
$102,028,483 $101,567,995 $ 99,677,221
% 90,357,498 § 84,350,320 $ 77,782,685

Premiums earned

t osses and loss expenses

Unearned premiums

Liabitity for losses and

loss expenses $128,428,653 $127,127,611 $121,207,553

Fffective October 1, 2005, the Mutual Company entered into a quota-share
reinsurance agreement with Southern whereby Southern assumes 100% of
the premiums and losses related 1o personal lines products offered in
Virginla by the Mutual Company through the use of its automated policy
quating and issuance system. The foltowing amounts represent assumed
refinsurance transactions related to the guota-share relnserance agresment
for 2005, 2004 and 20603:

2005 2004 2003
Premiums earned $ 22,302 ¢ — § —
Losses and foss expenses  § & — & —
Uneatned premiums $ 158720 § — § —
Liability for losses and
loss expenses § — $ — & —




Effective August 1, 2005, the Mutual Company entered into a quota-share
relnsurance agresment with Peninsula whereby the Mutual Company
assumes 100% of the premiums and losses retated to the Pennsylvania
workers' compensation product fine of Peninsula ndemnity Company. Prict to
January 1, 2002, the Mutuat Company and Southern had a quota-share
agreement whereby Southern ceded 50% of ifs direct business, less
relnsurance, to the Mutual Company, This agreement was terminated as of
January 1, 2002. The business assumed by the Mutual Company becomes
part of the pooling agreement between the Mufuai Company and Atiantic
States. The following amounts represent ceded reinsurance fransactions
refated to the quota-share reinsurance agreements for 2005, 2004 and 2003:

2005 2004 2003
Premiums earned 3 6,576 $ — % —
Losses and loss expenses  § {264,275} % (B11,479)§  {73,077)
Prepaid reinsurance
premiums $ 36475 § — & e

Liabitity for losses and

l05S expenses $ 1,331,482 § 2,333,521 § 4375127

Atlantic States, Southern and Le Mars each have a catasirophe reinsurance
agreement with the Mutual Gompany that limits the maximum Hability under
any one catastrophic ocourrence to $800,000, $600,000 and $500,600,
respectively, with 2 combined limit of $1,500,000 for a catasirophe involving
a combination of these subsidiaries. The Mutual Company and Southern
have an excess of loss reinsurance agreement In which the Mutual Company
assumes up to $260,000 {5170,000 in 2004 and $150,000 in 2003) of
losses in excess of $200,000 ($150,000 in 2003). The Mutuat Company has
agreements in place with Southern to reallccate the loss results of workers'
compensation business writien by those companies as part of commerclal
accounts primarily weitten by the Mutual Company or Atlantic States. These
agreements provide for the workers’ compensation loss ratios of Southern to
be no worse than the average workers' compensation loss ratio for Atlantic
States, Southern and the Mutuai Company sombined, The following amounts
represent ceded reinsurance transactions related to these reinsurance
agresments for 2005, 2004 and 2003:

2005 2004 2003

Premiums eamed $ 5318619% 4,344867 $ 3,047,964

686,827 § 4,583,270 § 10,249,746

Losses and loss expenses  $

Liabtlity for losses and

loss expenses $ 5057471 § 7,532,812 $§ 7,218,397

The following amounts represent the effect of affiliated reinsurance
transactions on net premiums earned during 2005, 2004 and 2003

2005 2004 2003

Assumed $182,001,686 $167,940,892 $153,068,026
Ceded (77,773,517)  (67,176,568) (58,894,082
Net $104,226,169 $100,773,324 $ 94,173,934

The following amounts represent the effect of affiliated reinsurance
transactions on net losses and loss expenses during 2005, 2004 and 2003

2005 2004 2003
Assumad $102,928,483 $101,567,995 § 99,677,221
Ceded {42,544,251) (46,458,873) [46,017,247)
Net % 60,284,232 $ 55,109,122 $ 53,659,974

In addition io the reinsurance agreements described above, Southern and Le
Mars (sffective April 1, 2004} have agreements with the Mutual Company
under which they cede, and then reassume back, 100% of their business
net of reinsurance. The primary purpose of these agresments is to provide
Southem and Le Mars with the same AM. Best rating (currently "A”} as the
Mutual Company, which these subsidiaries might not achieve without these
agreements in place. These agreements do not transfer insurange risk.
While these subsldiaries ceded and reassumed amolnts received from
policyholders of $75,542,412, $54,696,278 and $46,885,317 and claims of
$38,520,733, $36,260,201 and $26,487,971 under thess agreements in
2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively, the amounts are not reflected in our
consclidated financial staiemants. The aggregate Habilities ceded and
reassumet under these agreements were $73,683,920 and $71,377,640 at
December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

h. Expense Sharing

The Mutual Company provides facilities, management and other services to
us, and we reimburse $he Mutual Company for such setvices on a pericdic
hasis under usage agreements and pooling arrangements. The charges are
kased upen the relative participation of us and the Mutual Company in the
pooling arrangement, and our management and the management of the
Mutisal Company consider this altocation to be reasonable, Gharges for these
services totalied $47,025,782, $40,165,744 and $33,047,769 for 2005,
2004 ant 2003, respectively.

¢. Lease Agreement

We lease office equipment and automobiles with terms ranging from 3 1o 10
years to the Muiual Company under a 10-year lease agreement dated
January 1, 2000,

d. Legal Services

Dorald H. Nikelaus, President and cne of our directors, is alst a patiner in
the taw firm of Nikolaus & Hehenadel. Such firm has served as our general
counsel since 1986, principaliy in cennecticn with the defense of claims
fitigation atising in Lancaster, Dauphin and York counties. Such firm is paid
its custornary fees for such services.

¢. Provinge Bank

As of December 31, 2005 and 2004, we had $2,479,613 and $3,762,153,
respectively, in checking acgounts with Province Bark, a wholly owned
subsidiary of DFSC. We earned $99,610, $32,138 and $24,972 in interest on
these aceounts during 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively,

4 -— Business Combinations

During 2004, we acquired all of the outstanding stock of Le Mars and
Peninsuta. These acquisifions have been aceounted for as business
combinations in ascordance with SFAS No. 141, “Busingss Combinations.”

In June 2002, the Mutual Company consurmmated an affillation with Le
Mars. As part of the affifiation, the Mutual Company entered into a
management agreement with and made a $4.0 million surplus note
Investment in Le Mars. During 20083, Le Marg’ board of directors adopted a
plan of conversicn to convert fo a stock insurance company. Following
policyholder and reguiatory approval of the plan of conversion, we acquired
all of the outstanding stock of Le Mars as of January 1, 2004 for
approximately $12.9 miltion in cash, including payment of the principal
amount of the surplus note ($4.0 million) and accrued Inferest ($392,740) to
the Mutual Company. The operating results of Le Mars have beett included
in our consolidated financiat statements since January 1, 2004.

27



The acquisition of Le Mars enables us to conduct our insurance business in
four Midwest states. Le Mars, which was organized under the faws of lowa
in 1901, operates as a property and casualty inserer in lowa, Nebraska,
Oktahoma and South Dakota. Personal fines coverages represent a majority
of Le Mars' premiuens written, with the balance coming from farmowners
and mercantile and service businasses. Le Mars' largest lines of business
are private passenger automobile liability and physical damags; its other
principal lines are homeowners and commerctal mufti-peril, For the year
ended December 31, 2003, Le Mars had net premiums eamed of $17.9
million. The purchase price of Le Mars was based upon an independent
valuation as of Juiy 31, 2003, in applying GAAP purchase accounting
standards as of January 1, 2004, we recognized an extraordinary gain in the
amount of $5.4 milkion related to unallocated negative goodwill resulting
from this acquisition, A substantial portion of this unallocated negative
goodwill was ganerated by the recognition of anticipaled federal income fax
benefits that we expect io realize over the allowable 20-year carryover
period by offsetting the net operating loss catryover obtained as part of the
acquisition of Le Mars against taxable income generated by our consolidated
affiiates. We have determined that a valuation aliowance i5 required for a
portion of the acquired net operating loss carryover, because federal fax
taws limit the amount of such carryover that can be utilized, Other factors
that generated negative gootwill included favorabls operating results and '
increases In the market vaiues of invested assets in the period between the
valuation date ard the acquisition date.

As of Jaruary T, 2004, we purchased all of the outstanding stock of Pendnsula
indemnity Company and The Peninsula insurance Company, both of which are
organized under Maryland taw, with headquarters in Salisbury, Maryiand, from
Folksametica Holding Company, Inc. {“Folksamerica™, a part of the White
Mountains Insurance Group, Lid., for a price in cash equal to 107.5% of
Peninsuta's GAAP stockholders’ equity as of the closing of the acquisition, o
approximately $23.5 million. The operaling results of Peninstla have been
inciuded in our consoiidated financial statements since January 1, 2004,

Peninsula expands our presence in existing markets, operating primarily in
Maryland, Delaware and Virginia. Peninsula speciatizes in private passenger
automahile coverages and also writes homeowniers, commercial multi-pertl,
workers' compensation and commercial automobite coveragss, For the year
enced December 31, 2003, Peninsuda had net premiums eamed of $32.7
millian. We recorded geodwill of $448,968 related to this acquisition, nene of
which I8 expected fo be deductible for federat income tax purposes. Purstant

Our consotidated financial statements for the year ended December 31,
2004 include the operations of Le Mars and Peninsula from January 1,
2004, the date of thefr acquisition. The following table prasents our
unaudited pro forma historical results for the year ended December 31,
2003 as if these purchased entities had been acquired at January 1, 2003

{% Ir: thousands, except per share dala)

Total revenues $266,778
income before income tax expense and extraordinary item 26,542
Income fax expense 7,530
Income before extraordinary item 18,012
Basic earnings per share before extraordinary item 1.27
Biluted earnings per share before extraordinary ifem 1.23

The above pro forma earnings per share were calculated as if the progeeds
of approximately 2.3 miliion Class A common shates issued on December 1,
2003 (representing only those proceeds used to fund the acquisitions) were
received on January 1, 2003 and as I the corresponding common shares
were included in weighted average shares cutstanding from that date, The
ura forma resulis do not inciude the impact of an extraordinary item in the
amount of approximately $5.2 million refated to unaliocated negalive
goodwill that would have resuited from the Le Mars acquisition.

The unaudited pro forma results above bave been prepared for comparative
purposes enly and de not purport to be indicative of the resulfs of operations
that actually would have resuited hag the acquisitions cocurred at Jamuary
1, 2603, nor are they necessarily indicative of future operating results.

5« Investments

The amortized cost and estiraied fair values of fixed maturities and equity
securities at December 31, 2005 and 2004, are as follows:

2005
Gross Bross Estimated
Amortized Unrealized  Untealized Fair
Held to Matuity Cost Gains Losses Value

U.5. Traasury securities
and obligations of
{1.8. government
corporations
anid agencies

Obfigations of stales

§ 58,735488 § — $1,869,523 § 56,865,965

1o the terms of the purchase agreement with Folksamerica, Folksamerica has and pofitical

guarantees us against any deficiency in excess of $1.5 million in the loss and subdivisions B4B55911 1,145,476 338,824  B5462,563

inss expense reserves of Penirsela as of January 1, 2004, Any such deficiency Carporate securities 21,508,436 341,108 399,477 21,450,067

will be based on a fina} actuarial review of the development of such reserves Mortgage-backed

to be conducted four years after January 1, 2004. The maximum obfigation of seclrties 15,282,470 25,887 485825  14,822332

Folksamerica to us under this guarantee is $4.0 million. Totals $160,182,306  §1,512471  $3,083648 $178,601,127

The following is 2 summary of the estimated fair values of the net assets

acquired at the date of each acquisition based on purchase price allocations: 2005

Gross Gross Estimatad
Le Mars Peninsula Amortized  Unreafized  Unrealized Fair
{in thousands) Avallable for Sale . Cost Gains | osses Value
Assets acquired: . U, Treasury securities
nvestments $31,013 545,644 and obfgaflons of
, ! ! .8, government
Premiums fecelvable 3,699 4913 corporations
Relnsurance receivable 3,602 4,474 and agencies $ 51,374,133 $ 212,879 § 727,857 $ 50,858,685
Other 5,276 5,720 Obligations of states

Total assats acquired 44,490 60,751 and politica!

Libilities assumed: Subdwlsmns. ] 178,004,037 2,180,081 623,888 180,571,630
Losses and loss expenses 16.475 19,447 Corporate securities 20,328,627 241,579 458,147 20,112,059
Unearned premiums 7,734 12,563 Mortgage-backed

' ! secluritles 44,390,432 13,710 848,651 43,555,491

Other 1,983 5,281 Fixed maturities 205,007,229 2658049 2658643 295,097,235
Total lishilitles assumed 26,193 37,291 Equity securifies 28993361 4,763,805 385008 33,371,360
Total nef assels acquired $18,297 $23,460 Totals $324,000,500 §7422554 $3044,549 $378,468,595

28




2004

Gross Gross Estimated
Amortized Unrealizad  Unrealized Fair
Held to Maturity Cost Gains Losses Value

LS. Treasury securities
and obligations of
(1.3, government
corporations
and agencies

Obligations of states

$ 60,218,180 & 13,107 § 683,647 § 53,548,640

and politicat
subdivisions 76,651,761 1,867,257 93,018 78,426,000
Corporate securifies 27,448086 1,138,760 68,856 28,218,000
Morigage-backed .
securities 18,553,747 159,462 218,367 18,484,842
Jotals $182573,784 $3,178586 $1063,888 $184,688,482
2004
{ross Gross Estimated
Amotlized Unreafized  Unrealized Fair
Available for Sale Cost Gains Losses Vaiue

1.8, Treasury securities
and obligations of
tL.S. government

corporations

and agencies § 74,843,822 § 459,249 § 386261 § 74916810
Chligations of states

and political

subdivisions 108,777,575 3,682,063 13,538 112,446,100
Corporate securities 30,378,728 1,063,247 88925 31,352,050
Mortgage-backed

securities 8,071,679 22,837 52,254 8,042,362
Fixed maturities 222.071,804 5227496 541,978 226,757,322
Equity securities 30,770,758 3,331,747 587,530 33,504,976

Totals $252 842,563 $B,550,243 $1,130,508 $260,262,298

The amortized cost and estimated fal¢ vatue of fixed maturities at December
31, 2005, by contractual maturity, are shown below, Expected maturities will
ditfer from contractual maturlties because barrowers may have the right to
call or prepay obtigations with or witheut call or prepayment penalties.

Estimated
Amortized Fair
Cost Valug

Held to maturily
Due in one year or less § 7,260,454 $ 7,206,281
Bue after one year through five years 69,024,385 67,352,944
Due after five years through ten years 27,600,418 27,848 545
Due after ten years 61,014,577 61,370,825
Mortgage-backed securities 15,282,470 14,822,532

Total held to malurity $180,182,305 $178,601,127
Available for sale
Bue In one year of fess % 17,906,067 % 17,802,962
Due after one year through five years 50,945,588 50,832,558
Due after five years through ten vears 108,369,339 108,743,984
Due after ten years 73,485,803 74,162,230
Mortgage-backed securities 44,300,432 43,555,491

Total avafiable for sale $205,097 229 $2095,007,235

The amortized cost of fixed maturifies on deposit with various regutatory
authorities at December 31, 2005 and 2004 amounted to $9,043,786 and
$B,566,784, respectively.

Investments in affiliates consisted of the following at December 31, 2005
and 2004:

2005 2004
DFSC $7,512,546 $7,935,741
Other 928,000 929,000
Total . $8.441.546 $8,864,741

We made additional equity investments in BFSC in the amount of
$2,250,000 during 2004. Other expenses in our consolidated statements of
income include $52,781, $182,128 and $226,000 for 2005, 2004 and 2003,
raspectively, representing our share of DFSG losses. in addition, other
comprehensive income (loss} in our statements of comprehensive income
includes net unreatized losses, net of tax, of $240,769, $62,366 and
$50,438 for 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively, representing our share of
DFSC unreatized investment losses.

Other investment In affiliates represents cur investment in statutory trusts
that hold our subordinated debentures as discussed in Note 9.

Net investment income, consisting primarity of Interest and dividends, is
aftributabie 1o the folipwirg sources:

2005 2004 2003
Fixed maturities $18,574,854 $16,540,611 $13,255,492
Equity securities 975420 339,966 834,578
Short-ferm ivestments 966,416 524,172 523,527
Cther 34,853 30,770 29,250
Investment income 20,551,653 18,085,518 14,642,847
Investment expenses {2,079,690) (2178,731) {1,326,911})
Net invesiment income $18,471,963 $15,806,728 $13,315 036

Gross realized gains and losses from investments and the change in the
difference between fair value and cost of investments, before applicable
income taxes, are as follows:

20056 2004 2003
Gross realized gains:
Fixed maturities $ 674,585 $ 458,389 $1,002,461
Equity securities 28970215 1,252,075 £37,856
3,644,800 1,710,464 1,640,317
Gross reafized losses:
Fived maturities 805,183 35,952 33,759
Equity securilies 1,036,808 208,292 238,587
1,841,991 244,244 272,286
Net realized galns $ 1,802,809 $ 1,466,220 $1,368,031

Change in difference between
fair value and cost of

investmenis:

Fixed maturities $(8,381,388) $(2,617,067)  § (801,230)

Equity securities 1,643,782 914,179 1,544,745
$ (6,737,606} $(1,703,788)  § 653455
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We held fixed maturities and equily securities with unreafized losses
representing teclines that we considered temporary at December 31, 2005
as foliows:

Less than 12 months 12 months or fonger
Falr Unreatized Fair Unrealized
Value 105585 Value L.osses

t.8. Treasury securities
and cbfigations of
1.5, government

During 2005, we sold bonds that had been classified as held fo maturity due
to sigmiticant deterioration in the issuer's creditworthiness. These bonds had
an armortized cost of $1.0 milkion, and the sale resulted in a realized loss of
$144,047. During 2003, we sofd cettaln bonds that had been classified as
held to maturity due to a series of rating agency downgrades reiated fo these
securities. These bonds had an amortized cost of $1.8 million, and the sale
resulted in a realized galn of $165,564. There were no other sales or
transfers from the held to maturity portfolio in 2005, 2004 or 2003,

We have no derivative instrements or hedging activitles,

corporaticns .
and agencies § 32043116 § 641545 $62500126 91955835 O — Defered Policy Acquisition Costs
Obligations of states Changes in deferrad policy acquisition costs are as follows:
and poltical
subdivisions 73,457,810 906,530 6,586,827 56,282 2005 2004 2003
Gorporate securities 11,080,482 475,516 5,864,581 382,108 Balance, January 1 $22,257,760 $16,223,765 $14,567,070
Mortgage-backed Acqulsition costs deferred 48,452,833 45 467,005 32,405,695
securities 36,270,000 785018 13836849 540458 Amortization charged
Equity securities 3,715,877 240,474 1,178,209 145,432 to earnings (47,234,000) {39,434,000) (30,839,000}
Totals $157,477,285  $3,049,083 $90,056,492 §$3,083,115 Batance, December 31 $23,476,503  $22257,760  $16,223,765

The unrealized losses in our fixed maturities, substaniiaiy all of which are
rated investment grade, were primarity due fo the impact of higher market
interest rates rather than a decling in credit quality. There wers $88.9
millicn in fixed maturity securities and $1.2 mitlion in equity securities, at
fair value, that at December 31, 2005, were in an unrealized loss position
for 12 months or Jonger. The fixed maturities and equity securities with
unrealized losses have not been significantly below cost for continuous
amounts of time, and we determined that the unrealized losses are
femporary in nature based upon the factors we consider in determining
possible impairment.

We held fixed maturities and equily secirities with unrealized losses
representing declines that we considered temparary at December 31, 2004
as foll_ews:

Less than 12 months 12 months or longer

7 —- Property and Equipment

Property and equipment at Decernber 31, 2005 and 2004 conslsted of the
foliowing:

Esfimated
Usefut
2005 2004 Life
Office equipment $ 6,483,921 $6,135142  5-15years
Automobiles 1,216,085 1,101,055 3 years
Real estate 3,893,253 3848772 15-50 years
Software 573672 544,086 5 years
12,166,971 11,629,055
Accurnulated depreciation {6,932,548) (6,120,215}
$ 5234423 $ 5,508,840

Falr Unrealized Fair Unrealized
Valug Losses Value Losses

U.8. Treasury securities

and obligations of

U.S. government

corporations

and agencies $ 80,588,500 $ 040,084 $5370000  $120,824
QObtigations of states

and politicat

subdivistons 13,056,950 106,506 5,000 50
Corporate securities 12,433,300 158,781 e o
Morigage-backed

securities 15,734,625 151,952 3,584,117 118,669
Equity securities 5,947,354 540,030 292,500 57,500

Totals $127,760,728 §$1,897.353 $9,251,617  $306,043

During 2065, 2004 and 2003, ceriain investments frading below cost had
deciined on an other than femporary basis. Losses of $409,432, $6,650 and
$237,724 were inciuded in net realized tnvestment gains for these
investments in 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively.
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Depreciation expense for 2005, 2004 and 2003 amounted to $984,046,
$932,987 and $650,200, respactively.

8§ — Ljability for Losses and Loss Expenses

The establishment of an appropriate lability for losses and loss expenses is
an inherently uncertain process, and there can be no assurance that our
ultimate fability wifl not exceed our loss and foss expense reserves and kave
an adverse effect on our results of operations and finaneial condition.
Furthermore, the liming, frequency and extent of adjustments o our
esiimated future liabifities cannot be predicted, since the historical
conditions and events that serve as a basis for our estimates of ulfimate
claim costs may change. As is the case for substantialty all properly and
casually insurance companies, we have found it necessary in the past to
ingrease our estimated future Habilities for fosses and loss expenses in
certain pericds, and in other periods our estimates have exceeded otir actual
fiabilities, Changes in our estimate of the llability for lesses and loss
expenses generally reffect actual paymenis and the evaluation of information
received since the prior reporting date. Activity in the liabflity for losses and
loss expenses is summarized as follows:



2005 2004 2003
$267,190,060  $217,914,067 §210,691,752

Balance at January 1

Less reinsurance
recoverable (95,760,493)  (79,017,987) (79,583,319}
Net balance at January 1 171,430,567 138,885,070 131,108,433
Acquisitions of Le Mars
and Peninsula o 28,843,140 —
Net balance at Jantary 1
as adjusted 171,430,567 167,739,210 131,108,433
tncurred refated lo:
Current year 176,924,028 171,384,864 126,683,421
Prior years {8,382,132) {7,243,596) (450,110)
Total incurred 167,541,987 164,141,368 126,243,311
Paid related to:
Cugrent year 98,734,594 96,041,306 72,187,103
Prior years 67,228,986 54,408,705 48,268,571
Total paid 165,963,580 160,450,011 118,456,674
Net balance af ’
December 31 173,008,884 171,430,567 138,896,079
Plus reinsurance
recoverable 92,720,643 95,758,493 79,017,987

Balanee at December 31 $265,729,527  $267,180,060 §217,914,057

We recognized a decrease in the liability for losses and loss expenses of
pior years of $8.4 million, $7.2 miilion and $450,110 in 2005, 2004 and
2003, respectively. Generaily, we experienced improving foss development
trends duting these years, which were reflected in favorable settlements of
open claims. We made ne significant changes in our reserving philosophy,
key reserving assumptions or clalims management during these years, even
though we refiected changes In our reserve estimates in these years. No
significant offsetiing changses in estimates increased or decreased our loss
and loss expense reserves in these years. The 2005 development was
primarily recognized in the private passenger automobile liability, workers'
compensation and commercial multi-perit lines of business and was
consistently favorable for settlerents of ciaims occurring in each of the
previous five accident years. The majority of the 2005 development was
refated to decreases in the fability for kosses and loss expenses of prior
years for Alantic States. The 2004 development included decreases in the
liability for losses and Joss expenses of prior years for Le Mars and
Peninsulz of $3.6 million and $1.4 million, respectively, largely due o
favorable settlement of open claims in the private passenger autoroblle
lability line of business.

9 — Borrowings

Line of Gredit

On November 25, 2003, we entered into a creit agreement with
Manufacturers and Traders Trust Company {*M&T") relating to a four-year
$35.0 million unsecured, revolving line of credit. As of December 31, 2005,
we may borrow up to $35.0 million at interest rates equal to M&T’s current
prime rate or the then current London Interbank Euradoliar bank rate (LIBOR)
plus betwaen 1.50% and 1.75%, depending or our leverage ratio. In
addition, we pay a fee of 0,15% per annum on the loan commitment
amount, regardiess of usage. The agresment requires our compliance with
gertain covenants, which include minimum levels of our net worth, leverage
ratio and statutory surplus and AM. Best ratings of our insurance
subsidiaries. During the year ended December 31, 2005, borrowings wers
outstanding, and we compiied with all requirements of the agreement.

At December 31, 2002, pursuant to a credit agreement dated December 28,
1995 and amended as of July 27, 1998 with Fleet National Bank, we had
unsecured borrowings of $19.8 million, Such borrowings were made in
connection with various acquisitions and capital contributions to our
subsidiaries. The borrowings under this fine of credit were repaid during
2003, and this cradit agreement was terminated on December 2, 2003.

Subordinated Debentures

On May 15, 2003, we receivet $15.0 million in net proceeds from the
isstiance of subordinated debentures. The debentures mature on May 15,
2033 and are caliable at our option, at par, after five years. The debentures
carry an interest rate equal to the three~-month LIBOR rate plus 4.10%,
which is adjustable quarterly. At December 31, 2005, the interest rate on
these debentures was 8.43%, and Is next subject to adjustment on February
15, 2006, As of December 31, 2005 and 2004, our consofidated balance
sheets included an investment in a trust of $464,000 and subordinated
debentures of $15.5 million refated o this transaction.

0n October 29, 2003, we received $10.0 million in net proceeds from the
issuance of subordinated debentures. The debentures mature on October
29, 2033 and are callable at our option, at par, after five years. The
debentures carry an interest rate equal to the three-month LIBOR rate plus
3.85%, which is adjustable quarterly. At December 31, 2005, the intevest
rate on these debentures was 8.09%, and is next subject to adjustment on
January 29, 2006. As of December 31, 2005 and 2004, our consolidated
balance sheets included an investment in a trust of $310,000 and
subordinated debentures of $10.3 million related to this transaction.

On May 24, 2004, we received $5.0 million in net proceeds fram the
issuance of subordinated debentures. The debentures mature on May 24,
2034 and are callable at our option, at par, after five years. The debentures
carry an interest rate equal 1o the three-month LIBOR rate plis 3.85%,
which Is adjustable quarterty, At December 31, 2005, the interast rate on
these debentures was 8.24%, and is next subject to adjustment on February
24, 2006. As of December 31, 2005 and 2004, our consciidated balance
shests included an investment in a trust of $155,000 and subordinated
debentures of $5.2 mitlion relfated to this transaction.

10 — Reinsurance

Unaffiiiated Reinsurers

Atlantic States, Southern and the Mutual Gompany purchase third-parly
reinsurance on a combined basis. Le Mars and Peninsula have separate
third-party reinsurance programs that provide similar types of coverage and
that are commensurate with their refative size and exposures. We use
several diffarent reinsurers, all of which, consistent with our requirements,
have an A.M. Best rating of A- (Excellent} or better or, with respect fo foreign
reinsurers, have a financial condition that, in the opinion of our
management, s eguivatent to a company with at least an A- rating. The
exiernal reinsurance Atlantic States, Southern and the Mutual Company
purchase includes "excess of loss reinsurance,” under which our losses are
automatically reinsured, throligh a series of contracts, over a set retention
($400,000 and $300,000 retention for 2605 and 2004, respectively, with us
having a 10% participation for losses up to $1.0 million and $300,000 for
2003), and “catastrophic reinsurance,” under which we recover, through a
series of confracts, betwesn 95% and 100% of an accumudation of mary
losses resulting from a single event, including naturat disasters, over a set
retention ($3.0 million). Gur principal third party refnsurance agreement was
a multi-fine per risk excess of foss treaty that provided 99% coverage up fo
$1.9 million for bath property and Hability fosses. For properly insurance, we
also had excess of loss treaties that provided for additional coverage over
the mufti-line treaty up 1o $2.5 million per ioss. For liability insurance, we
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had excess of loss treaties that provided for additional coverage over the
ruiti-line frealy up fo $40.0 mitlion per occurrence. For workers'
compensation insurance, we had excess of less freaties that provided for
additional coverage over the multi-fine freaty up to $5.0 million on any one
tife, We had property catastrophe coverage through a series of layered
treaties up to aggregate losses of $80.0 million for Attantic States, Southern
and the Mutual Company for any single event. This coverage was provided
through as many as twenty reinsurers on any one trealy with ne reinsurer
faking more than 20% of any one contract. The amount of coverage
provided under each of these types of reinsurance depended upon the
amount, nature, size and location of the risks beiny refnsured. The Mutual
Company and we also purchased facuftative reinsurance io cover exposures
from tosses that exceeded the limits provided by our respective treaty
reinsurance. The following amounts represent ceded reinsurance
fransactions with unaffiliated reinsurers for 2005, 2004 and 2003:

20605 2004 2003
Premiums written $19,655 767  $22,016,484  $10,908,851
Premiumns eamed 519,604,187  $25,704,363  §$11,535.468
Logses and loss expenses % 9,886,287 $14,324616 510,646,851
Prepald reinsurance premiums  $ 1,731,001 § 1679421 & 710,057
Liabiy for losses and
1055 expenses $31,176,231  §27.903088  $15361,182

Total Reinsurance
The following amounts represent the fotal of all ceded reinsurance

11— Income Taxes

The provisior: for income tax consists of the following:

2005 2004 2003
Current $14,812,941  $11,280,908  § 7,495,130
Deferred 583,857 {405,256) {352,731
Fedaral 1ax provision $15,395,908  $10,885652 § 7,142,399

The effective tax rate is different from the amount computed at the statutory
federal rate of 35% for 2005, 2004 and 2003, The reasons for such
difference and the refated tax effects are as follows:

2005 2004 2003

income hefore

income taxes $52,345495  $37,054,251  $25436,375
Computed “expected”

faxas 18,320,923 12,968,988 8,902,731

© Tax-exempt interest {3,350,307) {2,302,247) {1,824,830)

Dividends received deduction {98,203} {106,838) (49,147)
Other, net 523,585 325,747 113,845
Federal income

tax provision $15,305,008  §10,8856852 & 7,142,390

The tax effects of temporary differences that give rise {o significant portions
of the deferred fax assets and deferred tax Yabilities at December 31, 2005
and 2004 are as follows:

transactions with both affiliated and unaffiliated reinsurers for 2005, 2004 2005 2004
and 2003: Deferred tax assets:
tnearned premium $10,270,783 $ 0,708,475
2005 2004 2003 R v
Loss reserves 6,551,470 6,916,375
Premitims samed $87,377,704  §90,880,931  §70,429,560 Nt.t operating loss carryforward -
Losses and 085 eXpenses $52,530,538 60,783.480  $56,664,008 acquired companies 4,376,784 4,824,300
Prepaid reinsurance premiums $40,083,138  $35,907,376  $30,691 654 Other 1,178,323 1,118,355
Liahifily for losses and Total gross deferred assels 22,371,370 22 568,505
1nss eXpenses $93,588,257  $05,750,493  $79,017.987 Less valuation allowance (770,758) {770,789)
. . Net deferred tax assets 21,606,571 21,797,708
The follawing amounts represent the effect of reinsurance on premiums Deferred ax abilities:
written during 2005, 2004 and 2003: Depreciation expense 280,477 316,035
Deferred policy acquisition costs 8,216,807 7,790,216
2005 2004 2003 Salvage recoverable 213,031 211,342
Hrect $215,710.476  $202,064,323 $118,605,732 Net unreatized gains 1,363,422 2 557,673
Assumed 188,357,878 174,657,504 161,642,112 Total gross deferred labilities 10,073,737 10,875,266
Ceded (101,533,466)  {93,439,380) (73,267,218) Net deferred tax asset $11,532,884  $10,922,440

Net premiums written $302,543,888  $283,282437 $206,880,626

The following amounts represent the effsct of reinsurance on premiums
earned during 2005, 2004 and 2003

2005 2004 2003
Direct $209,693,968 $188,665453 §$114,154,202
Assumed 182,181,758 168,054,072 153,068,054
Ceded (97,377,704) (90,880,931} (70,429,560}

Net premiums eamed $294,498,023  $265,838,504 $196,792,696
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A valuation aliowance is provided when it is more likely than not that some
portion of the tax asset will not be realized. Management has determined that
a valuation allowance of $770,799 related to a portion of the net operating
loss carryforward of Le Mars shouid be established at December 31, 2005 and
2004. Management has determined that & is not required 1o establish a
valuatfon affowance for the other net deferred tax assets of $21,606,571 and
$21,797,706 at December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively, since it Is more
likely than not that the deferred tax assets wilf be reafized through reversals of
existing temporary differences, future taxable income, carrybacks fo taxable
income in prior years and the implementation of tax-piarmning strategies.

At December 31, 2005, we have a nat operating loss carryforward of $11.7
sflion which is avatlable to offset our taxable income, Of this amount, $9.3
million will begin to expire in 2009 and is subject to an annual Amitation in
the amount that we can Use in any one year of approximately $376,000.
The remaining $2.4 million will expire in 2012 and Is subject o an annual
lissitation of approximately $303,000.



12 — Stockholders’ Equity

on April 19, 2001, our stoekholders approved an amendment to out
Certificate of Incorporation. Among other things, the amendment reclassified
our common stock as Class B common stock and effected a one-for-three
reverse split of our Class B commen stock effective April 18, 2001, The
amendment also authorized a rew class of common stock with one-tenth of
a vote per share designated as Class A common stock. Dur Board of
Directors alse approved a dividend of two shares of Class A commen stock
for each share of Class B common stock, after the one-for-three reverse
split, held of record at the close of busingss on Aprit 18, 2001,

Each share of Class A common stock outstanding af the time of the
deetaration of any dividend or other disiribution pavable in cash tpon the
shares of Class B common stock is entitied {o a dividend or distribution
payable at the same time and to stockholders of record on the same date in
an amount 2t least 10% greater than any dividend declaret upon each share
of Class B common stock. In the event of our merger or consclidation with
or inta another entity, the holders of Class A common stock and the holders
of Class B common stock are entitled to receive the same per share
consideration in such merger or consolidation. In the event of our liquidation,
dissolution or winding-tp, any assets avaiiable to common stockholders wil
be distributed pro rata to the holders of Class A common stock and Class 8
commen stock.

On February 17, 2005, our Board of Directors approved a four-for-three spht
of our Ciass A coramon stock and our Class B common stock effected in the
form of a 33%4% stock dividend to steckholders of record at the close of
business March 1, 2005 and paid on March 28, 2005.

13 - Stock Compensation Plans

Equity Incendive Plans

Buring 1996, we adopted an Equity Incentive Plan for Employees. During
2007, we adopted a nearly identical pian that made a totat of 2,000,000
shares of Class A common stock avallable for issuance. During 2005, an
amendment to the pian made a totat of 3,000,000 shares of Class A
common stock available for issuance, Each ptan provides for the granting of
awards by the Board of Directors in the form of stock options, stock
appreciation tights, vestricted stock or any cembination of the above. The
plans provide that stock options may become exercisable up to 10 years
from date of grant, with an option price not tess than fair market value on
date of grant. No sfock appreciation rights or restricted stock have been
issued.

Durirg 1998, we adopted an Equity Incentive Plan for Directors. During
2004, we adopted a nearly identical plan that made 266,667 shares of Class
A comman stock avaitable for issuance, Awards may be made In the form of
stock options, and the plan additionaily provides for the fssuance of 233
shares of restricted stock 1o each direcior on the first business day of
January in each year, As of December 31, 2005, we have 108,168
unexercised aptions under these pians. Additionally 2,800, 2,667 and 2,567
shares of restricied stock were fssued on January 2, 2005, 2004 and 2003,
respectively.

All options issued prior to 2001 were converted to options on Class A and
Class B common stock as a result of our recapitalization, No further shares
are available for plans in effect prior to 2001.

information regarding activity in our stock option plans follows:

Weighted-Average

Number of Exetcise Price
Optlons Per Share
Owtstanding at December 31, 2002 1,558,675 $10.07
Granted — 2003 890,000 4.00
£xercised — 2603 {121,876) 8.11
Forfaited ~ 2003 (18,667) 7.93
Expired - 2003 {635,556) 13.50
Qutstanding af December 31, 2003 1,872,476 879
Granted - 2004 46,000 14.13
Exercised ~ 2004 (788,442) 7.73
Forfeited - 2004 (39,784} 8.88
Qutstanding ai December 31, 2004 1,180,250 8.70
Granted - 2005 1,003,667 20.97
Exercised — 2005 (445,114} 9.89
Forfeited ~ 2005 (37,223) 20,69
Cutstanding at December 31, 2005 1,711,680 $16.03
Exercisabie at:
Decersber 31, 2003 1,178,276 $ 833
December 31, 2004 911,225 $ 9.73
December 31, 2005 735,802 § 9.51

Options available for fufure grants at December 31, 2005 are 808,589,

The following table summarizes Information about fixed stock options at
December 31, 2005:

Number of Weighted-Average Number of
Exercise Options Remaining Options
Price Quistanding Confractual Life Exgrcisable
$ 800 564,611 2.5 years 569,611
16,50 143,968 (.5 years 143,968
13.69 6,667 2.5 years 4,445
15.69 2,667 3.5 years 889
16.51 10,667 540 years 3,555
16.54 10,006 4.5 years 6,667
17.88 10,000 4.0 years 6,667
2033 10,000 4.5 years —
21.00 438,000 5.5 years -
23.60 10,800 5,5 years —
Total 1,711,580 735,802

Employee Stock Purchase Plans

Buring 1896, we adopted an Empioyee Stock Purchase Plan. Buring 2001,
we adopted a nearly identicat plan that made 400,000 shares of Class A
comtson stock avaitable for issuance.

The new plan extends over a 10-year period and provides for shares to be
offered to all eligible employess at a purchase price equal to the lesser of
85 of the fair market value of our Class A common stork on the last day
before the first day of the enroliment period (June 1 and December 1) of the
plan or 85% of the fair market value of our common stock on the last day of
the subscription period {June 30 and December 31). A summary of plan
activity follows:
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Shares lssued

Price Shares
January 1, 2003 $ 6.8531 12,567
duly 1, 2003 7.6181 11,701
January 1, 2004 B8.5871 16,183
July 1, 2004 12,7564 8,674
January 1, 2005 13.1899 8,081
July 1, 2605 13,7063 8,584

On January 1, 2006, we issued an additional 8,072 shares at a price of
$15,691 per share under this plan.

Agency Stock Purchase Plans

Durlng 1996, we adopted an Agency Stock Purchase Plan. During 2001, we
adopted a nearly identical plan that made 400,000 shares of Class A
common stock available for issuance. The plan provides for agents of our
affiliated companies to invest up to $12,000 per subscription period (Aptli 1
1o September 30 and October 1 to March 31) under various methods. Stock
i5 issued at the end of the subscription paeriod at 2 price equal to 90% of the
average market price during the last ten trading days of the subscription
period. During 2005, 2604 and 2003, 43,651, 43,762 and 38,063 shares,
respectively, were issued under this plan. Expense recognized under the
plan was not material,

14 — Statutory Net Income, Gapitat and Surplus
and Dividend Restrictions

Qur principal source of cagh for payment of dividends Is dividends from our
insurance subsidiaries. Our instirance subsidiaries are required by law fo
malntain ceriain minimum capital and surplus on 2 statutory basis and are
subject to regulations under which payment of dividends from statutory
surplas is restricted and may requive prior approval of their domichiary
insurance regulatory authorities, Owr insurance subsidiaries are also subject
to Risk Based Capital (RBC) requirements that may further impact their ability
fo pay dividends. At December 31, 2005, the statutory capital and surplus
were substaniiafly above the RBG requirements. Amounts available for
distribution as dividends to us without prior approval of insurance regutatory
authorities in 2006 are $21,855,006 from Atlantic States, $5,444,954 from
Southern, $2,138,655 from Le Mars and $2,805,047 from Peninsula.

15 — Reconcifiation of Statutery Filings to
Amounts Reported Herein

Our insurance subsidiaries are required to fite statutory financial statements
with state Insurance reguiatory authorities. Accousting principles used to
prepare these statutory financial staterments differ from financial statements
prepared on the basis of generally accepied accounting principles in the
United States.

Reconciliations of statutory net incore and capial and surplus, as
determined using statutory accounting principles, to the amounts inctuded In
the accompanying financial statements are as follows:

Year Ended December 31,

2005 2004 2008
The {cilowing is selected information, as filed with insurance reguiatory Statutory net income of
authorities, for our insurance subsiciaries as defermined in aceordance with insurancs subsidiaries $37,759,013  $ 26,261,441  $ 18,648,560
accounting practices prescribed or pevmitted by such inserance reguiatory Adjustments:
authorities: Deferred policy
2005 2004 2003 acguisition costs 1,218,833 6,033,995 1,656,695
Atfantic Stat Deferred tederal
ARG Siales income taxes {583,B57) 405,256 352,731
Statutory capitaf Saivage and subrogation
and SUFDIUS $14B,521 462 $127,219,108 &1 09,854,398 recoverable 164,306 (-t 12, 82) (1 67,527)
Statutory unasstgned Consolidating eliminations
surplus & 94,860,508 $ 73,558,245 $ 56,193,534 and adjustmants {1,805,579) {(579,343) (8,099,187)
Statutory net income $ 21,855,008  § 16,342,671 § 13,272,601 Parent-only
net income (foss} 196,781 (394,898) 5,002,814
Southern Net income as
Statutory capital reporied herein $36,949,497 $ 31,614,269 § 18,293,976
and surpius $ 56,802,771 $ 50,253,802 § 40,649,495 D b
Statutory unassigned ecombar 31,
surplus fdeficit) § TEB5185 S 11327 S (SB00) s 2005 2004 2003
S : ‘ ‘ atutory capitat and surplus
tatutory netoome____§ 5444954 & 2666102 § 5275909 of Insurance subsidiaries $255,761,260  $217,752,009  $150,503,893
Le Mars Adju;;ti:teatz: f
, eferred policy
Statitory capital e
and suplis § 21286553 $ 17103002 § 11987214 Qef:;‘;z":j;m‘m BATESO3 22257760 16,223,765
Statutery unasslgned income taxes 3,751,776 %61y (4,26
surplus § 8703813 § 4511162 & 7987214 reometaes (3751776 (3885.261)  (4:268.453)
- Salvage and subrogation
Statutory net income Tecoverable 8,311,000 8,146,694 7,167,008
{loss) $ 4203555 § 3268819 & (728,320) Non-admited assets and
other adjustments, net 837,567 1,121,225 §07,855
Peninsula Fixed matuities 694,311 6207157 6,521,246
Statutory capitat Parent-only equity and
ang SUFQIUS $ 29,050,474 $ 23,176,096 $ 19,477,027 other aéiastmeats {7,432,759) (8,925,170) 31,593,818
Statutory unassigned Stockholders’ equity as
surplus $ 11,251,060  § 5576682 § 3,125533 reported hereln $77.896,186  $242,704,314  $208,648,232
Statutery net ingome $ 6165408 § 4781843 § 1,513,794
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16 — Supplementary Cash Flow Information

Condensed Statements of Income and Comprehensive incoms

A . . . . " {in thousands)
The f?llowmg reflects income $axes and interest paid during 2005, 2004 and Year Ended December 31, 2005 2004 2003
2003:
Statements of Income
2005 2004 2003 Ravenues
Income axes $10,275,000  $12,905,000 $7,356,674 Dividends from subsidiaries $2000 $ 950 § 7,000
interest T ¢ 2191125 § 1,528,655 $1,291,692 Other 1,276 1,242 1,034
Total revenues 3,278 2,192 8,034
Expenses
1T weem Earnings Per Share Operaﬁng £Xpenses 1,675 1,760 1,345
The following information illustrates the computation of net income Irest 2267 1611929
outstanding shares and earnings per share on both a basic and diluted basis mc;;}za:;:::)eg:?;e PO — 3,942 3314 2865
for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003: and equity in undistributed net
Weighted- income of subsidiaries {886y  (1,122) 5,369
Average Eamings Income {ax benefit {862) (727} {634}
Net Shares Per tncome {foss) before equity in
Income Qutstanding Share undistribtrted net income
2005: of subsidiaries 196 {395) 5,003
Basig $36,949,497 18,044,043 $2.05 Equity In undistriboted
Effect of stock optlons e 581,136 {07} net income of subsidiaries 35,753 32009 12291
Diluted $36,949,497 18,625,185 $1.98 Net income $36,940  $31.614  §18,284
2004: Slatements of Comprehensive Income
Basic , §31614,269  17,545313 §1.80 Net income $36,049  $31614  $18.004
Effect of stock options o 634,316 (06} Other comprehensive income (Ipss),
Diluted $31,614,269 18,180,229 $1.74 net of tax
2003: Unreatized foss - parent {25) 2) {42)
Basic $18,203,976 12,761,162 $1.43 Urrealized gain foss) - subsidiaries {2,192) {£39) 421
Effect of stock options — 431,963 {04} QOther comprehensive income (loss),
Biluted $18,283,976 13,193,125 $1.39 net of tax (2,217) (541} 379
Comprehensive income $34,732  §31,073  $18,873
The following options fo purchase shares of common stock were not
included in the computation of diluted earnings per share because the Condensed Statements of Cash Flows
exercise price of the options was greater than the average market price: {in thousands)
2005 2004 2003 Year Ended December 31, 2005 2004 2003
Opfions excluded from Cash flows from operating activities:
giluted earnings per share — 10,000 o Net income $36,940  $31614  §18,294
Adiustments:
Equity in undistributed net
income of subsidiaries (36,753 (32,008) {12,29%)
18 — Condensed Financial Information of Parent Company Other 4,448 731 (4,137)
Condensed Balance Sheets Net adjustments {32,307} {31,278) (16,428}
(in thousands} Net cash pf@\:’lded . - 4,642 336 1,066
December 31, 2005 2004 Cagh fiows from tnve§ting actwt?sfes:
Assots :Iiei puirc!'(rase gf fax)adfmstt;tn?es e f2,084)  (1,238)
et sale (purchase) of short-term
D e et B 4wz & 4 investments (3846) 41974  (47,559)
strnent in subskdiaries/affiliates Net h  or d
(equity method) 294,333 250,898 et purchase of property an
Short-term Investments 9,431 5585 equipment (@92) (246} {433)
Cash 938 1,581 investment [a subsidiaries —  (45,218) (14,274)
Progerty and equipment 1,168 1,283 Other 215 334 (281)
Other 1,110 3,276 Net cash used : - 14,023} {5,238} {65,185}
Total assels $311,172 $275,703 Cash fiows from financing activities:
Cash dividends paid 6,813)  (5,985)  {3,868)
Liabilities and Stockhoiders' Equity Issuance of common stock 5551 6948 60,974
Liabilities - Issuance of subordinated
Cash dividends declared to stockhoiders $ 1,781 $ 1567 debentures — 5i55 25774
Supordinated debentures 30,929 30,929 Line of credit, net — - (19,800)
oter .. 566 503 fiet cash provided (used) {.267) 6118 63080
Total ,habmtses 33,276 32,999 Net change in cash (643) 1216 238)
Stockholders' equity 277,896 242 704 Cash at beginning of vear 1,581 %65 604
Tetat Babilities and stockholders' equity $311,172 $275,703 Cash at end of year $ 938 1581 § a5
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19 — Segment information

As an underwriter of properly and casualty insurance, we have three
reportable segments which consist of the investment function, the personal
tines of insurance and the commerclal knes of insurance. Using independent
agents, we marke persenal fines of insurance o individuals and commercial
lines of insurance to small and medium-sized businesses.

We evaluate the performance of the personal Tines and commetcial ines
primarily based upon underwriting Tesits ag determined under statutory
accounting practices (SAP) for gur total business.

Asseds are not allocated to the personal and commercial lines and are
reviewsd in total by management for purposes of decision making. We
operate only n the United States and ne single customer of agent provides
10 percent or more of revenues.

Einancial data by segment is as follows:

2005 2004 20603
{ins thousapgis)
Revenues
Premiums earned:
Commercial lines stz $ 99,657 $ 71,471
Personal fines 181,787 168,322 125,322
Total SAP
premiums earned 294 408 268,974 186,783
GAAP adjustments o (3,140) o
Total GAAP
premiums eamed 294,498 265,839 196,793
Net investment income 18472 15,807 13,316
Realized investment gains 1,803 1,466 1,368
Dther 5,074 4,577 3,515
Total revenues $319,847 $287,788 $214,092
2005 2004 2003
(in thousands)
tncome before income taxes
and extraordinary item:
Underwrifing income:
Gommercial fines $13,941 % 6,209 $ 7,173
Personal lines 14,232 10,100 2,004
SAP underwriting
income 28,173 16,305 9,177
GAAP adjustments 2,765 2,109 692
GAAP underwriting
income 30,938 18,418 9,862
Net investment income 18,472 15,807 13,316
Realized investment gains 1,803 1,466 1,368
{ther 1,132 1,263 883
Income befors income tax expense
and extraordinary item $52,345 $37,054 $25,436

20 - Guaranty Fund and Biker Insurance-Related Assessments

W acerue for guaranty fund and other insurance-related assessments in
accordance with S0P 97-3, “Accounting by Insurance and Other Enterprises
for Insurance-Related Assessments.” SOP 97-3 provides guidance for
determining when an entity shoutd recognize a fiabiiity for guaranty fund and
other insurance-related assessments, how to measure that liability and
when an asset may be recognized for the recovery of such assessments
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through premium tax offsets or policy surcharges. Owr liabilities for guaranty
furd and other instrance-refated assessments were $3,064,791 and
$4,140,878 at Dacember 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively. Thess liabilities
included $361,102 and $376,428 refated to surcharges collected by us on
behaif of regulatory authorities for 2005 and 2004, respectively.

21— Interim Financial Data (unaudited)

2005
Flest Second Third Fourth
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter
Net premiums
earned $71,762,523 $73,435,080 $74,584.045 $74,713,365
Total revenues 78,078,058 79,492,080 80,966,455 81,708,601
Net losses and loss
expenses 41537806 39,807,658 41,071,801 45,124,542
et income 8417088 8,803,276 9777157 9,851,977
Net income per :
common share
Basic 0.47 0.50 0.54 (.54
Diluted 0.46 (.48 0.52 0,52
2004
First Second Third Fourth
Cuarter Quarter Quarter Quarter
Net premiums
garned $62,600,478 $65.408,402 $67,956,382 $60,682,332
Total reveniues 58,001,661 70,692,422 73613653 75,480,902

Nat losses and loss
expenses

Income before

40,371,057 39,961,621 42,285455 41,523,835

extraordinary ftem 6,286,636 6,770,187  50B86,886 7,224,890
Fxtraordinary ftem 5,445 670 — — e
Net income 11,732,306 6,770,187 50886886 7,224,890
Basic earnings per

common sharg:

income befere

extraordinary
tem 6.37 0.39 0.33 0.41

Extraordinary item 0.31 — — e

Net income 0.68 0.39 0,33 0,41
Diluted eamings per
common share:

income before

extraordinary

item 0.35 0.37 0.32 0.40
Extracedinary item 0.30 o — —
Net income .65 0.37 0.32 0.40




Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Ty the Steckholders and Board of Directors of Denegat Group Inc.

We have audited the accompanying censolidated balance sheels of Bonegal Group Inc, and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2005 and 2004, and the ralated
consoiidated statements of income and comprehensive income, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended
December 31, 2005. These consolidated financial statements are the responstbifity of the Company's managament. Our responsiifity is to express an opinion on
these consolidated financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we
plan and perform the audit to cbtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes
examining, on a test basts, evidence supporting the amounts and disclostres In the financial statements. Ar audit also includes assessing the accounting

principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall firmneial statement presentation. We believe that cur audits
provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

i our opintan, the consolidated financiat statements referred to above present faidy, in all material respects, the financial position of Donegal Group Inc. and
subsiciarles as of December 31, 2005 and 2004, and the results of thelr operations and their cash flows for each of the years in the three-year peticd ended
December 31, 2005 in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

W also have audited, In accordance with the standards of the Public Company Actounting Oversight Board (United States), the effectiveness of Donegal Group
Inc.’s internal cortrol over financial reporting as of December 31, 2005, based on oriteria established in Infermal Controf — Integrated Framework tssted by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission, and our repert dated Mareh 13, 2008 expressed an unguaiified opinion o management's
assessment of, and the effective operation of, internat control over financial reporting.

KPmes LLP

Philadeiphia, Pennsylvania
March 13, 2006
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Management’s Report on Internal Control
Over Financial Reporting

Our management Is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate intemal control over financial reporting, as that term is defined in Rule 13a-15()
under the Sectirities Exchange Act of 1934, Under the supervision and with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer, our
management has conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2005, based on the framework
and eriteria established In Internal Controf — Integrated Framework issued by the Comanittee of Sponscring Organizations of the Treadway Commission {the
“C0OS0 Framewaork™).

Based on our evaluation under the COSO Framework, our management has concluded that our internal control over financiat reporting was effective as of
December 31, 2005.

Internal control over financial reporting cannoi provide absolute assurance of achieving financial reporting objectives because of its inherent limitations. Internal
control over financial reporting is & process that Invoives human ditigence and compliance and is subject to lapses in judgment and breakdowns resulting from
human failures. internal control over financial reporting also tan be circumvented by collusion or improper managemen! overtide. Because of such limitations,
there is a risk that material misstatements may rot be prevented or detected on a timely basis by internal control aver financial reporiing. However, these
inherent limitations are known fsatures of the financial reporiing process. Thereforg, it is possible 1o destgn inte the process safeguards to reduce, though not
eliminate, this rigk.

Because of its inherant imitations, a system of Internat control ever financial reporfing may not prevent or detect all misstatements. Also, projections of any
svaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in canditions, or the degree of
compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Our management's assessment of the effectiveness of our internal controd over firancial reporting has heen audited by KPMG LLP, an Independent registered
public accounting firm, as stated in their attestation repart which is included herein.

" Doward 1 abialosce

Donaid H. Nikolaus
President and Chief Executive Gfficer

o
’\-.., - -~ e ;I-—m._.._.
{/“

Jetfrey D, Miller
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

March 13, 2008
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Stockholders and Board of Direciors of Doregal Group Inc.

We have audited management's assessment, included In the accompanying Management's Report on Internal Contro! Over Financial Reporiing, that Donegal
Group Inc. maintained effective Inteznal contro! over financial reporting as of December 31, 2005, based on criteria established in Infernal Control — Infegraied
Framework tssued by the Commiitee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Donegal Group inc.'s management Is responsible for
maintaining effective internal cobtrol over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on management's assessment and an opinlon on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal controt over financial
reporling based on sur audif.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Sompany Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we
plan and perform the autilt to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained In all material
respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanting of infernal canirot over financial reporting, evaluating management’s assessment, testing and evaluating
the design and operafing effectiveness of internat contrat, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the clrcumstances. We belleve
hat cur audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s iniernal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the refiability of finanglal reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, A company’s Internal control over
financial reporting inciudes those policies and procedures that (1) pertaln fo the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reffect
the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit
preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally aceepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being
made only In accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and {3) provide reasonable assurance rsgarding prevention or timely
detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company's assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstaterents. Also, projections of any evaluafior of
effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or 1hat the degree of compliance
with the poficies or procedures may deteriorate.

In aur opinion, management’s assessment that Donegal Group Inc. maintainet effective internal conirol over financial reporiing as of December 31, 2005, is
fairly stated, in all material respects, based on criferla established In nfernal Confrol — Infegrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organlzations of the Treadway Commission. Alse, in our opinion, Donegal Group Ine. malntained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial
repotting as of December 31, 2005, bassd on criteria established in Infernal Confrol — Infegraled Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission.

We also have audited, in aceordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the consolidated balance sheets of
Danegat Group Inc. and stibsidiarles as of Decermber 31, 2005 and 2004, and the related consolidated statements of income and cemprehensive income,
stockholders’ equity, and cash ffows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2005, and our report dated March 13, 2008 expressed
an unqualified opinion on those consolidated financial statements.

KPre LIP

Phitadelphia, Pennsyivania
March 13, 2006
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CORPORATE INFORMATION

40

Annual Meeting

April 20, 2006 at the Company's headquarters
at 10:00 am.

Form 10-K

A copy of Donegal Group's Annual Report on Form 10-K will be
furnished free upon written requsst to Jeffrey D. Miller, Senior
Vice President and Chief Financial Officer, at the corporate

address,

Market information

Donegat Group’s Class A commaon stock and Class B commuon
stock are traded on the Nasdaq National Market under the
symbols “DBICA” and "DGICB." The following table shows the
dividends paid per share and the stock price range for each

quarter during 2005 and 2004;

Gash Dividend
Declared
Quarter High Low Per Share

2004 - Class A

st $18.00 $13.28 $

2ng 17.19 13.97 09

3rd 15.97 13.85 09

Ath 18.45 14.01 .18
2004 - Class B

tst $16.10 $12.75 5 —

2nd 16.69 14.21 078

3rd 16.16 13.58 078

4th 17.25 12,60 158
2005 - Class A

1st §21.24 $15.50 §

2nd 20.32 16.68 A0

3rd 23.99 18.32 10

4th 24.93 20,24 20
2005 - Class B

1st $18.83 $14.06 $ —

2nd 19.006 14.51 (85

3rd 206.00 16.56 085

4tk 24.00 17.40 Y

Corporate Offices

1195 River Road

P.0. Box 302

Marieiia, Pennsylvania 17547-0302

{800) 8770600

F-mail Address: info@donegalgroup.com
Donegal Web Site: www.donegalgroup.com

Transfer Agent

Compudershare Investor Services

£.0. Box 43068

Providense, Rhode Island 029840-3069
(800} 317-4445

Web Site: www.equiserve.com

Hearing impaired: TBD: 800-952-9245

Dividend Reinvestment
and Stock Purchase Plan

The Company offers a dividend

reinvestment and stock purchase plan

through its transfer agent.

For information contact:

Donegal Group inc.

Dividend Reinvastment and Stock Purchase Plan
Computershare Investor Services

P.0. Box 43069

Providence, Rhode Island 02940-3059

Stockholders

The following represent the number of
common stockholders of record
as of December 31, 2005:

Class A comman stock 785
Class B comrmon stock 446
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Donald H. Nikolaus
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Other Officers Kevin 6. Burke
Charles M. Fetraro
Cyril J. Greenya
Richard G. Keltey
Jeffrey D. Miller
Robert G. Shenk

Daniei J. Wagner

G. Erig Crouchtey It
Kenneth L, Dot
Theodore A. Hoover
Jeffrey A, Jacobsen
Perry 5. Keith

Steven P. Kfipa

David S, Krenkel
Matthew T. Resch
Bavid G. Simmons
Sheri 0, Smith

Chester J. Szczepanski
Janet L. Welsberg

Prasident, Chief Executive Officer and & Director
Chairman of the Board and a Director

Director :

Director

Director

Director

Director

Serior Vice President of Underwriting and a Director

Senior Vice President of Human Resources

Senior Vice President and Chief Information Officer
Senior Vice President and Chief Undsrwriting Officer
Senior Vice Presidert of Underwriting

Senior Vice President and Chief Financlal Officer
Senior Vice President of Claims

Senior Vice President and Treasurer

Vice President

Vice President of Research and Development

Vice President

Vice President of Personal Lines Underwrifing

Vice President of Internal Audit

Vice President of General Casualty Claims

Vice President of Marketing and Adverising

Vice President of investments

Vice Prasident of Sales and Business Developmerd
Secretary

Vice President and Chief Actuary

Vice President of Bodily Injury Claims
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